Public Document Pack

SCRUTINY BOARD (INFRASTRUCTURE, INVESTMENT & INCLUSIVE
GROWTH)
Meeting to be held in Civic Hall, 1st Floor West, LS1 1UR on
Wednesday 13 July 2022 at 10.00 am
There will be a pre-meeting for all board members at 9.45am.
MEMBERSHIP
Cllr P Alderson
Cllr N Buckley
Cllr M Foster
Cllr J Garvani
Cllr S Hamilton
Cllr A Hussain
Cllr W Kidger
Cllr M Shahzad
Cllr N Sharpe
Cllr P Truswell (Chair)
Cllr I Wilson

– Guiseley & Rawdon
– Alwoodley
– Ardsley & Robin Hood
– Horsforth
– Moortown
– Gipton & Harehills
– Morley South
– Moortown
– Temple Newsam
– Middleton Park
– Weetwood

Whips Nominee
Whips Nominee

To Note: Please do not attend the meeting in person if you have symptoms of Covid-19 and
please follow current public health advice to avoid passing the virus onto other people.
Note to observers of the meeting: To remotely observe this meeting, please click on the ‘To
View Meeting’ link which will feature on the meeting’s webpage (linked below) ahead of the
meeting. The webcast will become available at the commencement of the meeting.

Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure, Investment & Inclusive Growth) - 13 July 2022

Principal Scrutiny Adviser:
Rebecca Atherton
Tel: 37 88642

AGENDA

Item
No
1

Ward/Equal
Opportunities

Item Not
Open

Page
No
APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION
OF DOCUMENTS
To consider any appeals in accordance with
Procedure Rule 25 of the Access to Information
Rules (in the event of an Appeal the press and
public will be excluded)

2

EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC
1

To highlight reports or appendices which
officers have identified as containing exempt
information, and where officers consider that
the public interest in maintaining the
exemption outweighs the public interest in
disclosing the information, for the reasons
outlined in the report.

2

To consider whether or not to accept the
officers recommendation in respect of the
above information.

3

If so, to formally pass the following
resolution:RESOLVED – That the press and public be
excluded from the meeting during
consideration of the following parts of the
agenda designated as containing exempt
information on the grounds that it is likely, in
view of the nature of the business to be
transacted or the nature of the proceedings,
that if members of the press and public were
present there would be disclosure to them of
exempt information, as follows:-

3

LATE ITEMS
To identify items which have been admitted to the
agenda by the Chair for consideration.
(The special circumstances shall be specified in
the minutes.)

B

4

DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS
To disclose or draw attention to any interests in
accordance with Leeds City Council’s ‘Councillor
Code of Conduct’.

5

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND
NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTES
To receive any apologies for absence and
notification of substitutes.

6

MINUTES - 15 JUNE 2022

5 - 12

To approve as a correct record the minutes of the
minutes of the meeting held on 15 June 2022.
7

GREEN ECONOMY POLICY WORK UPDATE

13 36

To receive an update from the Director of City
Development about the approach being taken to
explore what the transition to Net Zero means for the
Leeds economy.
8

DIGITAL TRANSFORMATION UPDATE

37 48

To receive an update from the Chief Digital and
Information Officer on the approach outlined in the
digital strategy, the digital transformation approach,
and the innovation programme.
9

INQUIRY REPORT: PREVENTION OF DEATHS
& SERIOUS INJURIES ON LEEDS ROADS

49 84

To consider the final version of the 2021/22 inquiry
report into the prevention of deaths and serious
injuries on Leeds roads.
10

WORK SCHEDULE
To consider the Scrutiny Board’s work schedule for
the 2022/23 municipal year.

C

85 102

11

DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING
The next meeting of the Scrutiny Board
(Infrastructure, Investment & Inclusive Growth) will
take place on Wednesday 28 September at
10.30am. There will be a pre-meeting for all
Scrutiny Board members at 10.15am.

D

Agenda Item 6
SCRUTINY BOARD (INFRASTRUCTURE, INVESTMENT & INCLUSIVE
GROWTH)
WEDNESDAY, 15TH JUNE, 2022
PRESENT:

Councillor P Truswell in the Chair
Councillors P Alderson, N Buckley,
M Foster, J Garvani, S Hamilton,
A Hussain, W Kidger, M Shahzad,
N Sharpe and I Wilson

1

APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION OF DOCUMENTS

2

There were no appeals.
Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public

3

There were no exemptions.
Late Items

4

There were no late items.
Declarations of Interests

5

There were no declarations of interest.
Apologies for Absence and Notification of Substitutes

6

The following apologies were noted:
- Cllr J Pryor (Executive Member) in relation to item 9
- Jonathan Moxon (Flood Risk Manager) in relation to item 10
Minutes - 6 April 2022
The minutes of the 6 April 2022 were agreed as an accurate record.

7

The Chair confirmed that the KSI Inquiry Report, referred to in minute 71,
would be considered at the meeting of the Board on 13 July 2022.
Terms of Reference

8

Members noted the 2022/23 Terms of Reference for the five Scrutiny Boards,
as agreed at the Annual General Meeting of Council on 26 May 2022.
Co-Opted Members

9

The Board considered the provision to appoint co-opt members to the
Scrutiny Board. It was agreed that the Scrutiny Board would not seek to
appoint co-opted members at this time.
Performance Report
Members considered a summary of progress towards a suite of key
performance indicators (KPIs), reflecting the ambitions of the Best Council
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 13th July, 2022

Page 5

Plan and relevant to the remit of the Infrastructure, Investment and Inclusive
Growth Scrutiny Board.
The information reflected performance in quarter 4 of 2021/22 or, where that
was not available, the most up to date information.
The following attended the Scrutiny Board for this discussion:
Cllr Helen Hayden
Martin Farrington
Tim Rollett
Eve Roodhouse
Gary Bartlett
Heather Davies

– Executive Member
– Director, City Development
– Intelligence and Performance Manager
– Head of Economic Policy
– Chief Office, Transportation and Highways
– Principal Planning Policy Officer

The updated format of the performance report was discussed. Members were
advised that current KPIs are being reviewed following the recent adoption of
the Best City Ambition. Tim Rollett advised the Board that he is intending to
discuss the initial outcomes of the performance review (revised set of KPIs
and proposed changes to the report format) with Scrutiny Board Chairs.
Members noted the importance of presenting contextual historical data to
enable members to identify trends and to make meaningful comparisons
between different years. Members highlighted the benefits of including
comparative data from Core Cities and statistical neighbours where possible.
Martin Farrington provided an overview of performance data as set out in
Appendix 1 of the Performance Update, including indicators such as
employment in Leeds, business survival rates, delivery of affordable homes
and the number of people killed or seriously injured in road traffic collisions.
The following matters were discussed by the Board:
-

New Business Start Ups (KPI 4): Clarity was sought about the method of
determining the figures for new start-ups. The Board also discussed the
impact on start-up rates of Covid restrictions at the start of the year and
ongoing economic volatility.

-

Visitor Economic Impact (KPI 8): Members sought further information
about predicted rates of economic recovery in Leeds. In response, Eve
Roodhouse highlighted a strong recovery in occupancy rates reported by
Leeds Hotels and Venues Association, an increase in conference
bookings and significant additional traffic to the Visit Leeds website.
Trends in footfall at Leeds railway station were considered, as were
vacancy rates for retail outlets in the city centre. It was noted that there is
still work to be done to support some demographic groups to return to the
city centre.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 13th July, 2022

Page 6

Clarity was sought about the impact of Covid-related grants on the local
economy. Martin Farrington agreed to confirm the value of grants
distributed to the retail, leisure and hospitality sectors.
-

Number of affordable homes delivered (KPI 13): The Board discussed
the current number of new build homes in development and the
anticipated dates of delivery. The challenges of land availability,
procurement and viability were considered. Board members sought clarity
as to the distinction between an annual target for delivery and the target
relating to a historic backlog in delivery. Members were reassured that
levels of foreseeable developments suggest Leeds will make ‘in roads’ into
the backlog over the next three years.
The Board was advised that there will be two Local Plan Updates in the
Autumn, one of which will specifically address affordable housing. The
Council also intends to initiate a new strategic housing market
assessment.
The Board expressed concern about current levels of social housing given
demand in the city. Members sought further detail about current
performance in relation to requirements for all new build housing
developments to have 30% accessible and adaptable and 2% wheelchair
accessible properties.
It was agreed that the draft Delivery Partnership Plan will come back to the
Scrutiny Board for consideration. It was also agreed that Helen Davies will
confirm the number of properties purchased through the Right-to-Buy
programme by ward.

Cllr Kidger left the meeting at 11.28am.
-

Number of people killed or seriously injured in road traffic collisions
(KSI 17): The Board’s long-standing interest in this performance indicator
was outlined. The Chair confirmed that the final version of the 2021/22
inquiry report into the prevention of deaths and serious injury on Leeds
roads will be considered by the Scrutiny Board in July. Gary Bartlett
updated the Board on action taken to progress the adoption of ‘Vision Zero’
in Leeds. Members requested further information about how to access
Connecting Leeds updates and communication.

RESOLVED:
The Board resolved that:
-

The contents of the report be noted.

-

The Principal Scrutiny Advisor will liaise with the Director of City
Development to identify the most appropriate way in which the Board
can consider draft Delivery Partnership Plan.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 13th July, 2022

Page 7

-

The following additional information should be provided to the Board:
a) The value of Government grants distributed during the pandemic to
the retail, leisure and hospitality sectors.
b) The number of right-to-buy sales by ward in 2020/21 and 2021/22.
c) Current performance in relation to requirements for all new build
housing developments to have 30% accessible and adaptable and
2% wheelchair accessible properties.
d) Links through which members can receive information from
Connecting Leeds

10

Referral to Scrutiny: Flood Risk Management (Kirkstall - Cllr Illingworth)
The Scrutiny Board considered a Referral to Scrutiny in the name of Cllr John
Illingworth about the impact of aspects of Flood Alleviation Scheme 2 (FAS2)
on Kirkstall residents.
The following people were in attendance for this item:
Cllr Helen Hayden
Martin Farrington
Richard Dennis
Peter Charlesworth

- Executive Member
- Director of City Development
- Civil Engineering Manager
- Project Principal, BMMJV

Richard Dennis delivered a presentation providing an overview of the
background to FAS1 and FAS2. The presentation highlighted the impact of
the 2015 Boxing Day floods and the potential economic impact of such an
event occurring in Leeds during the working week.
The Scrutiny Board was provided with the background to the phased
approach to flood risk management adopted by Leeds City Council after 2015.
The presentation included examples of cutting-edge technology such as
moveable weirs, linear defences, and a flood storage area at Calverley, as
well as natural flood management within the catchment of the River Aire.
Cllr Illingworth outlined his concerns about aspects of the FAS2 scheme in
Kirkstall, which he proposed could offer scope for future learning and
potentially strengthen aspects of the current programme.
Cllr Illingworth highlighted three general concerns about FAS2:
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 13th July, 2022

Page 8





Flood storage: Impact on the city’s overall flood storage capacity given
the decision not to progress with proposals for storage at Rodley.
Sheet Steel Piling: Impact of the use of sheet steel piling on biodiversity.
Green space: A lost opportunity to release more green space in densely
populated parts of the inner city by displacing economic activity to less
populated areas.

Cllr Illingworth requested that further consideration be given to specific
aspects of the scheme that have a direct impact on Kirkstall:






Flood storage capacity: Cllr Illingworth requested confirmation as to
whether additional capacity has been identified to compensate for the
“loss” of proposed storage at Rodley.
Kirkstall Meadows: Concerns were raised about the impact of retaining
three rugby pitches in close proximity to a nature reserve.
Kirkstall Valley Farm and the adjacent allotment: Cllr Illingworth raised
concern that new flood management mechanisms could increase the
flood risk for the farm and allotments, potentially resulting in the
contamination of the land with raw sewage and thereby risking the farm’s
organic certification.
Flow control structure at Kirkstall Abbey: Reassurance was sought
about the appearance and value for money that will be provided by a new
flow controller at Kirkstall Abbey.

Richard Dennis responded by noting that the current flow control mechanism
at Kirkstall Abbey is not suitable as a modern-day flood management asset.
However, he reassured the Board that the current controller will be retained
as a historical asset. The Board was informed Government funding allocated
to FAS2 cannot be used for other purposes within a locality.
Officers clarified that there is an increased risk of flood depth at Kirkstall
Valley Farm, as opposed to an increase in flood risk. The increase in flood
depth would only occur when that land is already in flood. It is forecast that
there would be no difference in flood depth during a 1 in 10-year event.
During a 1 in 200-year event the difference in depth would be 150mm at a
point when the site is already experiencing depths of between 750mm and
1.5m.
The Scrutiny Board was advised that substantial consultation took place
about plans for additional flood storage in Rodley. In response to significant
community concern about the potential impact on Rodley nature reserve, the
Executive Board chose not to progress with flood storage proposals.
In response to proposals for a ‘managed retreat’ from flood zones in Kirkstall,
officers noted that such an approach would not have met the Government
criteria for funding in the aftermath of the 2015 flood event. The Government
required a flood prevention scheme and the Council secured £160m for its
subsequent flood risk management proposals.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 13th July, 2022

Page 9

Officers confirmed that FAS2 will protect 1,048 properties and 370 existing
businesses, and will unlock 1,613 new homes. The scheme has been
scrutinised by Defra Executive Commission, Environment Agency Major
Projects Team and Her Majesty’s Treasury. In all instances it has been
assessed as providing good value for money.
Martin Farrington noted that Kirkstall Meadows is currently laid out as rugby
pitches and is in private ownership. The Environment Agency regards playing
pitches as compatible with flood zones. However, historically flooding has
contaminated the land making three of five pitches unsuitable for use. Sport
England was a statutory consultee with regards to the two pitches still in use.
It is intended that part of the site will continue to be used as sports pitches.
Officer reassured the Scrutiny Board that where possible FAS2 aims to
maximise opportunities to improve the local environment. Professor Sir John
Lawton, Chair of Yorkshire Wildlife Trust, has been part of the programme
Board.
Residential and commercial property damage in Kirkstall in 2015 was
considered, along with the emotional impact for people living and working in
the area. Consideration was given to SMEs who face prohibitively expensive
insurance premiums. It was noted that FAS1 provides evidence of the positive
impact of effective flood risk management on insurance premiums.
The Executive Member suggested that for every £1 spent on protecting a
property £5 is saved in renovation and clean-up costs, as well as early
intervention delivering carbon savings and reducing insurance premiums.
Otley FAS scheme was highlighted as an example of how protective
interventions can deliver substantial benefits to local people.
Officers reiterated that FAS2 is an integrated programme of interventions that
stretch along the whole of the River Aire’s catchment area. In 2015 almost
3,000 residential properties within the catchment area were affected by
flooding.
The Scrutiny Board was provided with information about the natural flood
management measures incorporated into FAS2, including the planting of two
million trees.
It was the view of the Executive Member that it would not provide good value
for money at this stage to re-engage external modelling experts to meet with
Cllr Illingworth and officers to further test elements of the scheme that are in
progress and fully funded.
It was proposed that some of the principles of concern discussed at the
meeting might be applied when the Board considers other schemes, including
those presented within the Annual Flood Risk Management Report.
RESOLVED:
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 13th July, 2022

Page 10

-

11

That further scrutiny of this specific issue will not be scheduled within the
current work programme.
Sources of Work
The report from the Head of Democratic Services was noted by the Board and
considered in conjunction with item 13.
RESOLVED –

12

That the report be noted.
Work Schedule
RESOLVED –
-

That the work programme be agreed.

That an update be requested for Board members on the Council’s
response to Covid-19 and the action taken to support the city’s
recovery, set within the context of delivering inclusive growth and
tackling persistent inequalities (with the format of the update to be
determined through consultation between officers and the Chair).
Date and Time of Next Meeting
-

13

The next meeting of the Scrutiny Board will take place at 10am on 13 July
2022.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 13th July, 2022

Page 11

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
Report author: Fiona Bolam / Vanessa Smith
Tel: 0113 53 51882 / 0113 37 88808

Green Economy Policy Work Update
Date: 13th July 2022
Report of: Director of City Development
Report to: Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure, Investment and Inclusive Growth)
Will the decision be open for call in?

☒Yes ☐No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐Yes ☒No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions








Leeds declared a Climate Emergency in March 2019 and has a target of becoming a carbon
neutral city by 2030. We want to explore this transition through an inclusive economic growth
lens, exploring what addressing the Climate Emergency could mean for the Leeds economy.
As part of our membership of the national Inclusive Growth Network, earlier this year we
engaged the Centre for Progressive Policy to undertake some initial work looking at the areas of
risk within the Leeds economy as a result of the transition to Net Zero. This has highlighted a
number of key takeaways, but we would like to know more – in particular about how to capitalise
on existing opportunities and on opportunities that could arise in the future. Therefore, Leeds
City Council will be commissioning a partner to help us explore what the transition to Net Zero
means for the Leeds economy, including what it means for specific sectors; how we understand
the risks and opportunities associated with this; and what can be done practically to support
businesses and employers make the transition and become climate resilient.
Although there is already work underway to support businesses with the transition to Net Zero,
from the work outlined in this report we want practical recommendations to help us address the
opportunities and challenges our economy will face through the transition to Net Zero and to
becoming climate resilient, including actions that businesses and employers could take. Case
studies illustrating some of the actions being taken currently by businesses, employers and
sector bodies to aid the transition to Net Zero for them and their workforce will also be
highlighted.
This work will be part of a suite of policy work that will inform the refresh of the Leeds Inclusive
Growth Strategy 2018 - 2023, which will be available next year. It will also be used by the wider
Economic Development teams within the Council to influence their practice.
This work also aligns with work being undertaken by the West Yorkshire Combined Authority,
which is aiming to gain a clear picture of West Yorkshire’s Green economy, including its jobs,
skills requirements and relevant supply chains. The Leeds City Council work outlined in this
report will therefore complement the regional work by specifically focusing upon the Leeds
economy, as well as providing further insight into the practical actions that can be taken to
support Leeds businesses and employers in particular, with less specific focus on the Skills
agenda alone.

Recommendations
a) Members are asked to note the approach being taken to explore what the transition to Net Zero
means for the Leeds economy, including what is means for specific sectors, and what can be
done practically to help businesses and employers make the transition and become climate
resilient.
b) Members are also asked to agree any specific Scrutiny actions that may be appropriate.
Page 13

Why is the proposal being put forward?
1

Leeds declared a Climate Emergency in March 2019 and agreed to work towards making
the city carbon neutral by 2030. Understanding that we are part of the global effort, urgent
transformative action is required for Leeds to make its contribution to preventing the worst
impact of climate change. We need everyone to play their part, with local and national
government, business, communities and individuals all able to make a difference through
their actions. There is already work ongoing to help Leeds become more resilient as a city to
live with the changes resulting from the Climate Emergency, such as flooding events, about
which the Scrutiny Board has been receiving regular updates about (including at the
meetings of the Board on 15th June 2022 and 17th February 2022).

2

The drive towards a low carbon, sustainable and nature-friendly future offers huge
possibilities for a city like Leeds, placing ourselves ahead of the curve for new market
opportunities and acting as a test bed for Innovation and new Green technologies. We can
make it easier and more affordable for people to connect with each other and move around
the city, reclaiming public spaces for leisure and play. Better access to nature and green
space, cleaner air, locally grown fresh produce and well-paid jobs in emerging green
industries can improve wellbeing and make environmentally conscious lifestyles easier to
follow.

3

We know that there are significant opportunities across the economy as well as in emerging
Green sectors; modelling from the Local Government Association in June 2020 shows that
Leeds will generate the highest estimated number of jobs in the low-carbon and renewable
energy sector of all the English Core Cities, with the city expected to see almost 34,000 jobs
by 2050. We also know that the Green economy in Leeds will be essential to our recovery
from the Covid-19 pandemic and to building resilience into our economy for the future.

4

Work is already underway to support businesses with the transition to Net Zero across the
city and whilst more can certainly be done, it is important to highlight some of the actions
and interventions that have been and are in place. For example, on a regional level, there
are two schemes available: Resource Efficient Business (REBiz), which provides funded
support for free resource efficiency audits, grant contributions for carbon reduction projects
and fully funded circular economy consultancy support; and Travel Plan Network, which
supports West Yorkshire employers by assisting them to reduce single occupancy car use by
promoting and advising on active and sustainable travel options. Furthermore, Leeds City
Council has also run a successful Electric Vehicle Trials scheme with local businesses. This
saw 203 trials across 192 businesses and it is estimated that businesses saved almost
£30,000 in total and 29 tonnes of CO2, for the mileage completed in the trial vehicles by
participants. Following the completion of the trial scheme, 52% of businesses have plans to
lease or buy an electric vehicle.

5

Actions are also being taken city-wide by institutions making up the Leeds Anchors Network,
demonstrating a strong awareness of the need to take action. Case studies include
Yorkshire Water having a climate resilience plan and multiple programmes to deal with
adaptation, including a water resources plan. Leeds Beckett University have created a
Sustainability Advisory Group with representation from every department across the
University and to which the Sustainability team reports, helping to achieve buy-in, creating
joined-up thinking and building ambition into strengthening existing carbon reduction
commitments. Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust have also embedded biodiversity,
climate adaptation and wellbeing into plans for their estate. The British Library have taken a
‘spend to save’ whole-life costing approach to new buildings and refurbishments at Boston
Spa and Temple Works, such as having an energy saving action plan in place, and have the
aim of increasing awareness of sustainability across their networks, including demonstrating
and celebrating the highest possible standards of sustainability in their new developments.
Page 14

6

This being said, we want to review the local Green transition through an inclusive economic
growth lens, exploring what addressing the Climate Emergency could mean for the Leeds
economy. Through this work we want to look at what the Just Transition (which ensures that
moving to an environmentally sustainable economy is as inclusive as possible) could mean
for businesses in Leeds; how we understand the risks and opportunities associated with this;
and what can be done practically to help our economy make the transition.

7

The Council will therefore be commissioning a partner to help us explore what the transition
to Net Zero means for the Leeds economy, including what is means for specific sectors, and
what can be done practically to help businesses and employers make the transition. This
work will also be part of a suite of policy work (which includes work looking at the future of
our city and local centres; our Future Talent plan for the city; and our Innovation Prospectus,
which was published in May 2022) that will inform the refresh of the Leeds Inclusive Growth
Strategy 2018 - 2023, which will be available next year. It will also be used by the wider
Economic Development teams within the Council to influence their practice. We are
expecting this work to explore the following headline areas:
a) The risks to the Leeds economy, including:
 An acknowledgement of the work carried out thus far identifying the risks to
our economy resulting from the transition to Net Zero (which is outlined in
paragraph 6 below), including potentially expanding on this if this would add
value.
b) The opportunities to the Leeds economy, including:
 Where our economy, businesses and employers could benefit from the
transition to Net Zero;
 How this involves growing new sectors, but also acting within the mainstream
economy too;
 Which sectors could pivot their business models to make the most of
opportunities and how they could pivot them;
 How Innovation could help bring opportunities into reality; and
 What workforce skills are needed to make the transition and what skills we
already have that could be used differently.
c) The role of the Council, including:
 What the Council can do practically to help businesses and employers, eg.
what tangible, realistic and achievable suggestions could be made;
 How business support services could change to support businesses and
employers to pivot/diversify their business model to focus on new products or
markets and to support businesses and employers in retraining and reskilling
their staff;
 Which industries should be prioritised for support and why, eg. high-carbon
sectors, sectors with high-carbon supply chains, or perhaps low-carbon
activities with rapid job creation potential in areas of risk; and
 The Council’s convenor role regarding Green Finance in the city.
d) The role of businesses and employers, including:
 How businesses and employers could pivot or diversity their business models
(this may include business premises);
 How businesses and employers could prioritise reskilling or upskilling their
staff;
Page 15




What businesses and employers could do in relation to their properties in
response to the challenge of Net Zero; and
Exploring whether businesses and employers could/should create Just
Transition Plans that would seek to protect employees during the transition to
Net Zero, complementing general Net Zero plans.

e) Leeds’ role in the West Yorkshire region, including:
 Looking to confirm the importance of the city in driving change, given that
Leeds is a major centre of employment and business within the region.
f) Best practice case studies, including:
 What best practice there is from Leeds or elsewhere in the form of case
studies of what action can be taken by businesses, employers and local
authorities in addressing the transition to Net Zero; and
 What examples there are of support that is already in place for businesses,
employers and sectors to help them with the transition.
8

As part of our membership of the national Inclusive Growth Network, earlier this year we
engaged the Centre for Progressive Policy to look at the areas of risk within the Leeds
economy as a result of the transition to Net Zero. This work has identified a number of key
takeaways, including the following (further details on these aspects can be found in
Appendix 1):
a) Employment in ‘at risk’ industries:
 There are c. 31,000 jobs held by employees in Leeds in high-emitting
industries. The broad Manufacturing and Transport sectors account for c.
11,000 jobs each.
 There is a substantial geographical concentration of this employment. Out of
482 Lower Super Output Areas (LSOA) in Leeds, 20 account for two-thirds of
all high-emitting employment.
 The areas with higher employment in high-emitting industries tend to be, on
average, more deprived.
 ‘Greening’ Transport will not be enough in response to the Climate
Emergency. A fair transition to Net Zero will need to consider how to support
both those working across a number of sectors, including Manufacturing and
Energy as well as Transport, to ensure no one is left behind.
 Failure to support these individuals could lead to greater deprivation in already
deprived neighbourhoods if their jobs cease to exist or they are unable to
adapt to new job roles, thereby rising an intensification of existing economic
inequalities in the city.
b) However, Leeds has economic resilience:
 Leeds’ economic profile is strong relative to other UK cities and the rest of the
Yorkshire and the Humber region. Earnings, employment rate, qualifications
and GVA (Gross Value Added) per head are comparatively high.
 However, there is substantial socioeconomic diversity across the city. Analysis
of deprivation data shows that some neighbourhoods – particularly those
concentrated in the centre of the city – experience significant levels of
deprivation.

Page 16



Leeds is an economically successful city; ensuring that economic opportunity
is evenly shared throughout the city is a critical ongoing challenge for the
Council and its partners.

c) Overall emissions within Leeds:
 When looking at CO2 emissions in Leeds there is a higher level of pollution per
capita than other UK cities. This is mainly driven by road transport emissions
which are significantly higher than in other cities, although Leeds also has
somewhat higher household emissions too.
9

Alongside the Centre for Progressive Policy’s work looking at risks, we also know from
conversations with businesses that some companies are experiencing difficulty in sourcing
products through local supply chains, meaning there is a risk to our local economy from
outsourcing.

10 We would like to know more about the opportunities for the Leeds economy that could arise
from the transition to Net Zero and what can be done to help our businesses make the most
of them, helping our economy to be more resilient, including becoming climate resilient too.
The work undertaken by the Centre for Progressive Policy touched lightly upon potential
opportunities for Leeds, including features of the city that could be particularly important,
such as having a world-class university, Leeds as a national Cultural and Creative Industries
Hub and the potential to create a Green Finance Hub in Leeds. The presence of the UK
Centre for Greening Finance and Investment in Leeds, along with the UK Infrastructure
Bank, the Bank of England and our established financial services sector, presents a
significant opportunity to drive our own progress towards Net Zero, but also to support the
transition across the UK and international transition too. Further work will be undertaken in
relation to this specific opportunity alongside the research referenced in this report.
11 The Council will be seeking a partner who can bring local and national knowledge to work
with us, advise us and help us assimilate a wide range of information so we can understand
what opportunities the transition to Net Zero can bring to the Leeds economy. We also want
to know what the Council and businesses and employers can do to take advantage of these
and to make it as fair a transition as possible.
12 We anticipate that this work will involve looking at a range of evidence and will involve
collating case studies of what businesses, employers and sector bodies are currently doing;
making practical recommendations for businesses, employers and the Council regarding
what could be done to aid the transition to Net Zero within the Leeds economy and to help
our economy become climate resilient; and testing and exploring recommendations with
business, employer and Council representatives.
13 The West Yorkshire Combined Authority (WYCA) have also recently commissioned work
aiming to gain a clear picture of West Yorkshire’s Green economy, including its jobs, skills
requirements and relevant supply chains. WYCA would like clear recommendations for
Green economy activity to support its plan to deliver on its Net Zero and broad sustainability
ambitions and have underlined the importance of aligning this activity with a Just Transition.
It is anticipated that their work will:




Provide a definition of the Green economy for the region;
Quantify the number and type of Green jobs in West Yorkshire, with data related to
key policy areas;
Map Green jobs described by sector, including the most common occupations and
most common hard skills;
Page 17








Identify apprenticeships and Further Education qualifications important to enter most
concentrated occupations;
Give access to lists of companies active in the Green economy in West Yorkshire;
Supply projections of growth in different Green sectors;
Include qualitative work to get knowledge and data to understand key issues and
trends, eg. interviews with stakeholders, education and training providers and
employers; and
Establish a demographic profile of the region’s current Green economy and the
jobs/sectors at risk by the transition, assessing implications and developing
recommendations to address barriers to participation in the Green economy.

14 The Leeds City Council work outlined in this report will therefore complement the regional
work outlined in paragraph 13 by specifically focusing upon the Leeds economy, as well as
providing further insight into the practical actions that can be taken to support Leeds
businesses and employers in particular, with less specific focus on the Skills agenda alone.
What impact will this proposal have?
Wards Affected: All
Have ward members been consulted?

☐Yes

☒No

15 The work outlined in this report will allow us to explore what the transition to Net Zero means
for the Leeds economy, including what is means for specific sectors, and what can be done
practically to help businesses and employers make the transition. This will include practical
recommendations for businesses, employers and the Council too. We want to ensure that as
a city we do all we can to take advantage of the many opportunities in emerging Green
industries and, for example, by pivoting current business models to be ‘greener’, and to look
at the support we can provide to businesses which will need to change due to the Climate
Emergency. This work will equip us further to deliver a just transition to an environmentally
sustainable and inclusive economy, as well as help our economy to continue to recover from
the Covid-19 pandemic.
16 This work will also be part of a suite of policy work (including work looking at the future of our
city and local centres; our Future Talent plan for the city; and our Innovation Prospectus,
which was published in May 2022) that will inform the refresh of the Leeds Inclusive Growth
Strategy 2018 - 2023, which will be available next year. It will also be used by the wider
Economic Development teams within the Council to influence their practice.
What consultation and engagement has taken place?
17 The Executive Member for Economy, Culture and Education has been fully engaged with the
work set out in this report.
18 The Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure, Investment and Inclusive Growth) has also been
informed that this work is intended to go ahead via the Inclusive Growth Update report that
went to the Board Meeting in February 2022.
19 A number of business representative groups, including the Confederation of British Industry
(CBI), the Federation of Small Businesses (FSB) and the Chamber of Commerce have
already undertaken research and work looking at the Green economy and what it could
mean for businesses. This includes, for example, the FSB’s small business sustainability hub
and the CBI’s “Be More Green” initiative. This illustrates that businesses are already
engaged and interested in growing their business and at the same time shrinking their
Page 18

carbon footprint. We will endeavour to include these representative groups in the Leeds City
Council work outlined in this report.
What are the resource implications?
20 The cost of the commissioned work will be up to £25k.
What are the legal implications?
21 This is an information rather than decision-making report and therefore there are no legal
implications arising from it.
What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
22 The report has no specific risk management implications.
23 There is always a risk to the Leeds economy through both policies and external pressures.
The Council recognises that growing the economy has positive benefits to the city and that
our work looking at our Green economy is a crucial component of delivering our Best City
Ambition and the three pillars which provide the framework within it.
Does this proposal support the council’s 3 Key Pillars?
☒Inclusive Growth

☒Health and Wellbeing

☒Climate Emergency

24 The Council’s three pillars provide a framework for everything we do as a Council. The work
outlined in this report contributes directly to our ambition for all of our residents to benefit
from a strong economy in a compassionate city, supported by work under each of the three
pillars. In particular, the actions contribute towards the delivery of Inclusive Growth by
helping us to identify how best to support local businesses and employers and the economy
as a whole make the transition to Net Zero, including supporting growth and investment;
supporting the improvement of skills; and helping to ensure that the benefits of our Green
economy are shared. This in turn helps to address our Zero Carbon ambitions by enabling a
fair transition to a Green economy while improving quality of life for residents. The three
pillars are related and interdependent and therefore our work on Inclusive Growth influences
Health and Wellbeing and the Climate Emergency helps to bring them together further to
achieve our shared goals.
Options, timescales and measuring success
a) What other options were considered?
25 An alternative option was to not commission the work outlined in this report. However, this
would mean that we would not gain the insight deemed necessary into the risks and
opportunities surrounding Leeds’ Green economy moving forwards which is vital to our
ongoing work to deliver Inclusive Growth and towards economic recovery from the Covid-19
pandemic.
b) How will success be measured?
26 We are yet to bring together the totality of this work, given that we have only recently
commissioned further work looking into the issues raised in this report, and are yet to
consider any potential actions that could be taken in response to recommendations coming
from the work. This will be done following the completion of the work outlined in this report.
c) What is the timetable for implementation?
27 We will shortly be commissioning the work outlined in this report. We anticipate starting work
with our partner from August 2022, with the aim of having recommendations and the final
report from them by October 2022.
Page 19

Appendices
28 Appendix 1 – The Centre for Progressive Policy’s analysis: Leeds’ story for a just transition.

Background papers
29 None.

Page 20

Leeds analysis by CPP - 17.01.2022
Overview – Leeds’ story for a just transition
Leeds is an economically successful city – it has higher earnings, output per head and skills levels than
many other comparable UK cities. Leeds also benefits from a world class university, large financial
services sector and a vibrant cultural and creative sector. But alongside these strengths, Leeds also
has substantial pockets of high deprivation with many communities not having access to the
opportunities the city has to offer. These areas of deprivation are particularly around the city centre an area where high Green House Gas (GHG) emitting jobs are heavily concentrated. We calculate that
approximately 7% (or 31,000) of all jobs held by employees in Leeds are working in high emitting
industries - with both the manufacturing and transport sectors accounting for around 11,000 jobs
each. Greening transport in the city will therefore be an important but not sufficient response to the
strengths and vulnerabilities we identify.
The city’s strengths mean it is well-placed to lead in the creation of new innovations and capital
investment to combat climate change and the high skilled segments of its population are wellequipped to capitalise on the opportunities to come. But these developments must take all of the
city’s residents with them, especially those living in highly deprived neighbourhoods and working in
industries that are either in decline or where jobs will need to substantially adapt to survive
decarbonisation. A concerted approach needs to be taken to ensuring the costs and challenges of the
transition do not fall disproportionately on the citizens least able to bear them, which will be driven
by the local authority with the strong support of stakeholders across business, civil society, and anchor
institutions. This is the fundamental challenge for Leeds, but one which it is in a strong position to
address.

About this note
As part of the implementation advice received by Leeds as a member of the Inclusive Growth Network
(IGN), this note outlines the findings of an initial exploration into the risks and opportunities facing
Leeds as the city strives towards its goal of becoming net zero by 2030.
The first section of the document details risks, with an initial focus on employment in high emitting
industries – this is the type of employment most at risk of changing or ceasing to exist due to net zero
efforts. It then explores the city’s economic resilience more broadly, profiling the key economic and
demographic characteristics of Leeds in relation to other UK cities as well as the rest of the Yorkshire
and Humber region. Finally, the risks section outlines sources of pollution within Leeds beyond the
jobs that people are currently doing – such as domestic, transport and commercial emissions – to
provide a holistic view of the climate-related challenges facing the city.
The second section explores Leeds’ strengths and opportunities. The discursive section provides a
snapshot of institutions and developments across the city and outlines key challenges for making the
most of these assets as Leeds seeks to become an inclusive net zero city.

Key takeaways
Employment in at risk industries

-

There are approximately 31,000 jobs held by employees in Leeds in high emitting industries.
The broad manufacturing and transport sectors account for approximately 11,000 jobs each.

Page 21

-

-

There is a substantial geographical concentration of this employment. Out of 482 Lower Super
Output Areas (LSOA) in Leeds, 20 account for 2/3rds of all high emitting employment.
The areas with higher employment in high emitting industries tend to be, on average, more
deprived.
Greening transport will not be enough. A fair transition to net zero will need to consider how
to support both those working across a number of sectors including manufacturing and energy
as well as transport to ensure no-one is left behind.
Failure to support these individuals could lead to greater deprivation in already deprived
neighbourhoods if their jobs cease to exist or they are unable to adapt to new job roles,
thereby risking an intensification of existing economic inequalities in the city.

Economic resilience
-

-

-

Leeds’ economic profile is strong relative to other UK cities and the rest of Yorkshire and the
Humber region. Earnings, employment rate, qualification and GVA per head are comparatively
high.
However, there is substantial socioeconomic diversity across the city. Analysis of deprivation
data shows that some neighbourhoods – particularly those concentrated in the centre of the
city – experience significant levels of deprivation.
Leeds is an economically successful city – ensuring that economic opportunity is evenly shared
throughout the city is a critical ongoing challenge for the local authority and partners.

Overall emissions within Leeds
-

-

When looking at C02 emissions in Leeds, there is a higher level of pollution per capita than in
other UK cities. This is mainly driven by road transport emissions which is significantly higher
than in other cities, while Leeds also has somewhat higher household emissions.
A key challenge here will be how to reduce reliance on petrol cars without incurring significant
economic costs on those who can least bear it.

Strengths and opportunities
-

We have not sought to create an exhaustive list but hope the institutions and developments
outlined below will be a useful starting point in thinking about how some of the city’s existing
assets can best support inclusive green growth:
o The University of Leeds as a global leader in climate change: As well as being a world
class university, it opened the multi-disciplinary Priestley International Centre for
Climate in 2016 and in 2019 opened a campus-based “innovation hub” that supports
high-growth start-ups to connect with expertise across the university. Ensuring new
research on climate change translates into real world economic outcomes particularly for the people of Leeds - will be a critical ongoing challenge. As there is
increasing pressure on UK universities to enable civic capacity within their cities and
to demonstrate local impact via their research, the local authority is in a strong
position to mobilise the university as a key anchor institution in the drive towards an
inclusive net zero transition.
o Establishing a green finance hub: The strength of Leeds’ financial services sector has
encouraged the Government to establish two new institutions – the UK Infrastructure
Bank and the UK Centre for Greening Finance and Investment. Key next steps are to
explore how the development of a green financial services hub can support the

Page 22

o

o

o

creation of good green jobs within Leeds – particularly for families on low incomes
across the city – and does not exacerbate economic inequalities.
A green and inclusive cultural and creative sector: As an internationally renowned
hub for the cultural and creative industries (including fashion), Leeds is in a good
position to catalyse on the culture sector’s role in the local economy and in driving
the city’s collective identity as a centre of innovation. Key next steps are to set out a
clear and mutually agreed plan to decarbonise, with initiatives such as Sustainable
Arts in Leeds (SAIL) already going some way to convene this and demonstrate that the
city is leading by example.
The presence of several renewable energy sites: Leeds has a comparatively large
number of renewable energy sites (9 operational and 1 under construction). Key next
steps will be understanding the extent to which these sites already employ (or will
employ) people from Leeds, as well as the types of people and skills required.
Proximity to a green industrial cluster: For Leeds, the nearest cluster is the Humber
Industrial Decarbonisation Roadmap. Given the development of multiple renewable
energy sites across Leeds and given its world class university, key next steps will be
exploring whether there are ways of working together and sharing learnings between
Leeds and the Humber LEP on how to derive the most economic benefit from
decarbonisation.

Part 1: Understanding risks for Leeds
Concentration of employment in energy intensive industries
We initially focussed on understanding the type of employment in Leeds and explored the extent to
which it is concentrated in high emitting industries. To do this we use industry GHG emissions intensity
at the UK level and combine this with the Business Register and Employment Survey for local
authorities and lower super output areas.1
We define high emitting industries as those with a GHG emissions intensity that is greater than the
total emissions intensity for the UK as a whole. Using this definition, we estimate that around 7% of
all jobs held by employees in Leeds is in high emitting sectors (around 31,000 jobs). In terms of overall
high emitting jobs held by employees, the broad manufacturing and transport sectors account for
approximately 11,000 jobs each. Air transport has the highest GHG emissions intensity of any industry
at a UK level and accounts for about 0.6% of jobs held by employees in the city (2,500 jobs).

1

We use the 2 digit codes from the Business Register and Employment Survey 2020 and combine this with UK
emissions intensity by industry. BRES is accessible via Nomis. The emissions data can be found here:
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/environmentalaccounts/datasets/ukenvironmentalaccountsatmospherice
missionsgreenhousegasemissionsintensitybyeconomicsectorunitedkingdom

Page 23

% of total employment by high emitting industry
2.0
1.8
1.6
1.4
1.2
1.0
0.8
0.6
0.4
0.2
0.0

Source: CPP analysis
While 7% of jobs held by employees in Leeds is in high emitting industries, these jobs are heavily
concentrated within certain parts of the city – most notably the city centre and the airport (see map).

Source: CPP analysis
To demonstrate this concentration another way, out of 482 Lower Super Output Areas (LSOA) in Leeds,
20 account for 2/3rds of all high emitting employment. These top 20 high emitting areas also happen
to have higher levels of deprivation. Using IMD 2019 data, the average IMD score for a Leeds LSOA is

Page 24

14058, whereas in the top 20 high emitting areas it is 9249 (lower scores mean higher deprivation).
The same is true for subdomains of deprivation – looking at education and skills for instance the Leeds
LSOA average is 15,431 whereas for the 20 high emitting LSOAs its 10,561. The map of education and
skills deprivation below shows how concentrated it is within the centre of Leeds.

Source: CPP analysis
Updated risks rankings for Leeds
Earlier this year CPP published work which ranked local authorities on the risk of experiencing a bad
transition to net zero.2 We have updated all the data for this and rerun the analysis with a focus on
where Leeds sits in relation to 1) other large UK cities and 2) Yorkshire and the Humber region.
Before revealing where Leeds ranks its worth looking at the raw data for Leeds. Leeds compares quite
favourably on several key measures of economic vulnerability/strength. Earnings, employment rate,
qualification levels, GVA per head and economic diversity are things it does better in. Demographically,
Leeds has a slightly older population than average and is more populous.
Leeds does badly compared to other cities on the emissions jobs index (nb. this is the sum of the share
of jobs for each industry multiplied by the UK GHG intensity for each industry). But it is important to
note that this is driven by the 2,500 jobs in air transport - without this, Leeds would be in line with the
city average. Many other UK cities have airports nearby but not within the city boundary so to some
extent Leeds comparatively poor performance on this metric is an artificial construct – other cities

2

The rationale and methodology for the rankings and analysis can be found here: CPP (2021) Leaving no place
behind in the race to net zero: https://www.progressive-policy.net/publications/leaving-no-place-behind-inthe-race-to-net-zero

Page 25

have simply exported the problem to other areas. Nevertheless, having an airport within Leeds
presents a challenge as the city seeks to decarbonise industries and employment.
City comparison table
Median
earnings

UK
city £448.08
average
(exc.
Leeds)
£485.10
Leeds

Employment
rate

%
level
2+
74.98

Median
age

Population
size

GVA
head

70.76

%
level
4+
43.53

33.07

514,678

76.90

46.70

79.90

35.11

798,786

per

Emissions
jobs

Econ
diversity

£29,141.14

11.39

3.14

£34,265.75

16.66

3.29

When compared with the rest of Yorkshire and the Humber, Leeds does better on all measures. And
particularly so when it comes to earnings, skills and GVA per head.
Yorkshire and the Humber comparison table

YH
local
authority
average (exc
Leeds)
Leeds

Median
earnings

Employment
rate

% level
4+

Median
age

Population
size

35.5

%
level
2+
75.9

433.3

74.3

485.1

76.9

Emissions
jobs

Econ
diversity

236,378

GVA
per
head
22164.7

43.5

21.4

3.1

46.7

79.9

35.1

798,786

34265.7

16.7

3.3

Transforming the data into rankings is helpful for quickly comparing vulnerability/strengths across
places (lower ranks mean greater risk). Bristol and Cardiff are the closest to Leeds in terms of the
economic strengths and as mentioned Leeds does badly on emissions and jobs (compared with other
similar cities) because of air transport jobs within the city.
City risk rankings
Area

Area
code

Bristol,
City of

E060
0002
3
E080
0003
5
W06
0000
15
S120
0004
9

Leeds

Cardiff

Glasgo
w City

Emissi
ons
jobs
309

Median
earning
s
246

Employ
ment
rate
151

%
level
4+
292

%
level
2+
284

Medi
an
age
344

Popula
tion
size
343

GVA
per
head
292

Econ
diversi
ty
329

161

207

226

246

207

327

353

297

350

246

169

159

269

207

337

335

286

228

298

187

48

290

128

317

352

301

331

Page 26

Manche
ster

E080
0000
3
Notting E060
ham
0001
8
Sheffiel E080
d
0001
9
Liverpo E080
ol
0001
2
Newcas E080
tle upon 0002
Tyne
1
Birming E080
ham
0002
5
Coventr E080
y
0002
6
Bradfor E080
d
0003
2
Leiceste E060
r
0001
6

159

101

42

261

107

351

350

324

307

266

30

137

184

135

353

327

280

263

253

97

48

254

187

323

351

155

291

268

173

115

205

37

329

344

240

258

240

57

98

222

104

346

310

273

245

299

117

5

130

104

341

354

196

317

279

160

56

159

100

347

336

225

154

251

129

84

86

18

306

348

79

321

297

9

23

108

6

350

333

219

286

The rankings also show how well Leeds performs relative to other Yorkshire and the Humber local
authorities. North Lincolnshire, Selby, Richmondshire and Ryedale are particularly vulnerable with
employment more concentrated in high emissions industries and doing comparatively badly on most
other economic and demographic measures.
Yorkshire and the Humber risk rankings
Area

Leeds

Areac
ode

E0800
0035
York
E0600
0014
Harrogate
E0700
0165
Sheffield
E0800
0019
East Riding of E0600
Yorkshire
0011
Wakefield
E0800
0036

Emiss
ions
jobs

Employ
ment
rate

%
level
4+

%
level
2+

Med
ian
age

Popul
ation
size

GVA
per
head

Econ
diver
sity

161

Medi
an
earni
ngs
207

226

246

207

327

353

297

350

334

139

233

253

281

292

261

265

330

177

179

255

177

254

63

224

244

336

253

97

48

254

187

323

351

155

291

54

109

164

191

246

32

330

123

308

176

38

235

34

55

226

332

173

341

Page 27

Craven

E0700
0163
Hambleton
E0700
0164
Bradford
E0800
0032
Calderdale
E0800
0033
Rotherham
E0800
0018
Kirklees
E0800
0034
Doncaster
E0800
0017
Kingston upon E0600
Hull, City of
0010
Barnsley
E0800
0016
Ryedale
E0700
0167
Richmondshire E0700
0166
North
East E0600
Lincolnshire
0012
Selby
E0700
0169
North
E0600
Lincolnshire
0013
Scarborough
E0700
0168

158

2

323

259

292

14

11

243

268

31

110

314

189

281

21

53

227

179

251

129

84

86

18

306

348

79

321

203

129

173

122

134

188

262

161

173

99

36

137

92

187

211

290

80

241

208

99

60

80

68

253

342

67

281

147

146

60

17

31

229

312

89

342

231

14

84

6

4

315

284

189

305

128

83

96

30

93

193

276

40

322

13

78

44

272

272

18

8

201

161

28

17

337

58

199

128

6

41

217

121

104

53

11

22

179

219

108

272

18

199

248

42

12

127

52

205

83

8

52

118

73

64

129

228

218

76

204

39

38

63

142

20

104

96

87

Beyond employment: other sources of pollution in Leeds
In addition to exploring employment in Leeds, we have looked at all sources of emissions in Leeds by
analysing the ONS’ UK local authority and regional carbon dioxide emissions national statistics: 20052019.3 One thing that stands out is how critical tackling transport emissions will be to Leeds on its
route to net zero. Emissions from transport activity account for the largest share of overall emissions
in Leeds compared to other sources (45% of total).

3

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-carbon-dioxide-emissionsnational-statistics-2005-to-2019

Page 28

Leeds: Proportion of
Gross Emissions by
Source
12.43%
9.81%
44.83%
4.67%

28.27%
Industry

Commercial

Domestic

Transport

Public Sector

Source: CPP analysis
Comparable cities
Leeds has the highest total emissions per capita of all of the cities in our analysis. We can see that this
is driven in large part by the high level of per capita emissions in transport. Domestic emissions per
capita are also higher.

Area
Leeds
Cardiff
Newcastle upon
Tyne
Glasgow City
Sheffield
Bradford
Manchester
Liverpool
Birmingham
Leicester
Coventry
Nottingham
Bristol, City of
Source: CPP analysis

Total
Emission
s Per
Capita
4.89
4.43

Industry
Per
Capita
0.61
0.60

Commercial
Per Capita
0.48
0.55

Public
Sector Per
Capita
0.23
0.27

Domestic
Per Capita
1.39
1.20

Transpo
rt Per
Capita
2.20
1.82

4.06
3.81
3.79
3.79
3.65
3.61
3.58
3.44
3.40
3.32
3.18

0.33
0.47
0.67
0.71
0.31
0.38
0.48
0.82
0.53
0.30
0.28

0.57
0.57
0.42
0.33
0.65
0.46
0.38
0.35
0.30
0.46
0.44

0.43
0.33
0.23
0.18
0.31
0.33
0.24
0.24
0.23
0.36
0.22

1.29
1.20
1.31
1.41
1.08
1.21
1.23
1.17
1.14
1.16
1.18

1.43
1.22
1.20
1.18
1.30
1.22
1.25
0.86
1.21
1.04
1.07

By comparison to the rest of the Yorkshire and Humber region, Leeds has lower carbon emissions per
capita, although several places still do better than Leeds.
Yorkshire and the Humber

Page 29

Total
Emissio
ns Per
Capita

Area
North
Lincolnshire
39.99
Selby
8.65
Hambleton
8.44
East Riding of
Yorkshire
8.01
Richmondshire 7.51
North East
Lincolnshire
7.39
Ryedale
7.33
Harrogate
6.56
Doncaster
6.43
Craven
6.29
Rotherham
5.98
Wakefield
5.82
Barnsley
5.35
Leeds
4.89
Calderdale
4.81
Scarborough
4.45
Kirklees
4.29
Kingston upon
Hull, City of
4.17
York
3.83
Sheffield
3.79
Bradford
3.79
Source: CPP analysis

Industry
Per
Capita

Commerci
al Per
Capita

Public
Sector Per
Capita

Domestic Transport
Per Capita Per Capita

34.20
3.21
1.69

0.63
0.44
0.49

0.17
0.10
0.19

1.50
1.57
1.75

2.78
3.57
4.49

2.82
1.11

0.57
0.61

0.18
0.19

1.62
1.64

2.40
4.21

3.50
2.27
0.86
1.00
1.33
1.39
1.38
1.37
0.61
0.86
0.92
0.80

0.66
0.52
0.64
0.46
0.46
0.48
0.53
0.31
0.48
0.30
0.51
0.30

0.30
0.45
0.22
0.19
0.11
0.22
0.25
0.12
0.23
0.12
0.18
0.15

1.39
1.80
1.76
1.60
1.78
1.52
1.44
1.64
1.39
1.56
1.68
1.48

1.55
3.49
3.23
2.99
2.50
2.43
2.26
1.98
2.20
1.98
1.37
1.58

0.99
0.36
0.67
0.71

0.37
0.50
0.42
0.33

0.21
0.20
0.23
0.18

1.28
1.35
1.31
1.41

1.32
1.47
1.20
1.18

Transport emissions is the principal driver of Leeds poor performance compared with other cities
while household emissions are also comparatively high. Leeds has a high density of all forms of road
transportation. So greening road transport must be a key priority for the city.

Page 30

Source: CPP analysis

Part 2. Strengths and opportunities for net zero
Alongside looking at the risks facing Leeds, explore some of the institutional developments that
provide opportunities for Leeds to drive for net zero in an inclusive way. We do not have all the
answers, and this is not an exhaustive list, but hope the following is a useful starting point in thinking
about various features of the city that could be particularly important. We include questions worth
further exploration which focus on how these institutional developments might foster good local
employment and inclusive economic growth.
World class university
The University of Leeds is a world-class institution which ranks within the top 100 of the QS World
University Rankings, boasting several world-leading departments and institutes providing real-world
solutions to tackling climate issues. As an institution it is the third largest employer in Leeds,
contributing around £1.3bn annually to the UK economy.4 Recent estimates also indicate that every
£1m of revenue generated by the University will produce a further economic impact of £1.31m in the
UK, £0.97m of which stays locally within the Yorkshire and Humber region.5
Critical to translating the presence of the university into local economic opportunity is the
strengthening of coordination for research on net zero, and the expansion of university-business
engagement that supports the diffusion of new knowledge among local enterprises. The university is
at the forefront of these objectives, making several advances in recent years to strengthen its
institutional standing in the city’s net zero objective. Firstly, the opening of the Priestley International
Centre for Climate in 2016, the university’s flagship climate institution which brings together
researchers from across the University of Leeds to collaborate on delivering climate-oriented
solutions, will increase capacity to produce world-leading multi-disciplinary climate research.
Secondly, the recent opening of Nexus in 2019, a campus-based innovation hub that supports high-

4

Leeds University. (2015). Investing in Knowledge and Opportunity: Strategic Plan 2015-2020. Available at:
https://www.leeds.ac.uk/download/76/strategic_plan_2015
5
Leeds University. (2015). Investing in Knowledge and Opportunity: Strategic Plan 2015-2020. Available at:
https://www.leeds.ac.uk/download/76/strategic_plan_2015

Page 31

growth start-ups to connect with expertise and facilities across the university, will be important in
ensuring research outputs help to support the growth of existing businesses, the development of new
enterprises in new sectors, and the wider decarbonisation mission in Leeds.6
While the importance of the university to the city and its green ambitions are clear, there are
questions about how new research on climate change can translate into real world economic
outcomes. For instance, what is the scale of the new business creation facilitated by Nexus and job
opportunities this might present? What are the types of economic opportunities being driven by the
universities research and business outreach? What might this offer to lower income families living and
working in Leeds?
The growth of the ‘civic universities’ movement – highlighting the role of universities in enabling local
civic capacity – will be key to this. With the establishment of the Civic University Commission7, Chaired
by Lord Kerslake, in recent years, UK universities are more than ever being encouraged to prove how
they can they play a central role in helping their host communities to thrive. This is linked to increased
demand on universities from funding bodies to demonstrate local impact via their research. Given
this, the local authority is in a strong position to leverage its role as the city’s convenor of place to
work with the university as a key anchor institution in the drive towards an inclusive net zero
transition.
Creating a green finance hub
Leeds is well placed to capitalise on its growing financial services sector and develop a green finance
cluster within the city. Leeds already has the largest financial services sector in England outside of
London employing 40,000 people, accounting for 38% of the city’s total output, which is forecast to
generate over half of the city’s GVA growth over the next decade.8
The strength of the city’s financial services sector has encouraged the UK Government to establish
two new institutions that it sees as fundamental to the development of the UK’s green finance sector
in Leeds, both of which opened in 2021. The first is the UK Infrastructure Bank, whose core mission is
to deliver finance for infrastructure to tackle climate change and support local growth across the UK,
opening with an initial £22bn of available finance. The second is the UK Centre for Greening Finance
and Investment, a research centre providing environmental and scientific intelligence that will support
financiers to calculate the environmental impact of their investments.
Both institutions are in their formative stages presenting an opportunity for the local authority to
shape and influence their development. There is an opportunity to position Leeds as the go-to location
in the UK for financial institutions seeking to expand the amount of money they lend or invest in
sustainable business and infrastructure. This may mean, for instance, seeking to encourage finance
firms to move their bases into Leeds, and/or encouraging the finance sector to provide more capital
for sustainable businesses and infrastructure within the city. Given the growth opportunities that
green finance offers and the strength of the city’s existing financial services sector, Leeds is in a unique
position to capitalise and make green finance central to its broader green growth ambitions.
There do however, remain questions about the types of economic opportunities a green finance sector
will provide. Key questions to explore include: How can the development of the green financial
services sector support the creation of good green jobs within Leeds? How can this help to support

6

See more here: https://nexusleeds.co.uk/
See more here: https://upp-foundation.org/about-us/civic-university-network/
8
Leeds City Council. (2022). Leeds economy. Available at: https://www.leeds.gov.uk/leeds-economy
7

Page 32

families on low incomes across the city? And how might it benefit those who may lost their jobs in the
transition to net zero as their industries adapt or become obsolete?
Leeds as a national cultural and creative industries hub
As an internationally renowned hub for the cultural and creative industries, including the fashion
industry, Leeds is in a good position to catalyse on the culture sector’s role in the local economy and
in driving the city’s collective identity as a centre of innovation. The city’s growing cultural industries
should be encouraged to be at the forefront of change through holding space for conversation,
advocacy, education and inspiration around sustainability and collective responsibility to achieve the
city’s net zero goals inclusively.
The local authority may consider its role in harnessing the sector’s ability to contribute creatively to
wider city conversations with citizens and communities around climate change and how it and the city
can positively respond. With one role of the local authority and local political leadership being to make
net zero and sustainability meaningful to citizens, the presence of a thriving creative sector in Leeds
with deep connections to communities is a strong asset in helping to engage more widely around
these issues.
Additionally, the creative industries should be encouraged to act as an exemplar to other industries
by foregrounding sustainability values and practices through innovative products, services and
systems. The sector should set out a clear and mutually agreed plan to decarbonise, with initiatives
such as Sustainable Arts in Leeds (SAIL) already going some way to lead this drive by developing a
pathway to net zero roadmap.9 As well as helping to achieve the city’s net zero goals and growing the
green economy locally, all of this will be strategically important in continuing to develop Leeds’ Place
Narrative and identity both nationally and on the world stage. Mobilising the role of the city’s fashion
industry will be pivotal here due to its clear connections to the global supply chain. These local
economic advantages may help Leeds to establish itself as a centre of leadership around sustainability
and inclusive green growth.
Relevant renewable energy sites
One aspect of economic opportunity from the transition to net zero is the creation of new
technologies to decarbonise the economy and the creation of jobs to build, manage and use such
technology. While official statistics on this type of “green” employment are not yet available, there is
evidence on the number and type of renewable energy sites by local authority.
The Renewable Energy Planning Database shows that Leeds has 10 renewable energy sites that are
either operational (9) or under construction (1).10 Taken together, these sites should have energy
capacity of 95.3 megawatts (MW). This is larger than other large cities such as Manchester (6 sites
with 48.3 MW capacity) and Sheffield (6 sites with 75 MW capacity). However, Leeds’ comparatively
strong position on green energy capacity is driven by its only under construction site which will
account for 49.9 MW of capacity.
Understanding the extent to which these sites already employ (or will employ) people from Leeds, as
well as the types of people and skills are important next steps. In addition, Leeds city council can play
a role in driving inclusive growth outcomes by ensuring planning permission for future sites is

9

https://wearesail.org/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/renewable-energy-planning-database-monthly-extract

10

Page 33

contingent upon certain criteria related to inclusive growth – such as the provision of good jobs,
particularly for those living in more deprived parts of Leeds.
Leeds renewable energy sites
Site name

Technology
Total
capacity Development
Type
(MWelec)
Status
Buslingthorpe Power Station (Leeds Biomass
2
Operational
North)
(dedicated)
Wothersome Grange Farm House AD Anaerobic
1
Operational
- crops
Digestion
Knostrop WWTW AD
Anaerobic
2.4
Operational
Digestion
Skelton Grange Landfill
Landfill Gas
5.2
Operational
Peckfield Quarry Landfill Scheme
Landfill Gas
3.9
Operational
Cross Green ERF
EfW
11.6
Operational
Incineration
Hook Moor
Wind Onshore
10.3
Operational
Knostrop Sewage Treatment Works
Anaerobic
4
Operational
Digestion
Haigh Hall Solar Farm (Resubmission) Solar
5
Operational
Photovoltaics
Land Adjacent to 4 Redcote Lane Battery
49.9
Under
(Armley)
Construction
Source: CPP analysis of Renewable Energy Planning Database (REPD): September 2021
Access to nearest green industrial cluster
Another potential opportunity is being close to a green industrial cluster. The stated ambition behind
green industrial clusters is to support certain geographical areas attract inward investment and drive
demand for low carbon products and technologies by harnessing the power of markets, the public
sector, universities and local communities.11
For Leeds, the nearest cluster is the Humber Industrial Decarbonisation Roadmap. According to the
Humber LEP which is helping to develop the roadmap, the Humber cluster is concentrated in locations
around the Humber Estuary. It includes the UK’s main centre for steel production; two oil refineries;
two major chemicals clusters; and biofuel, cement, lime and glass manufacturers. It is part of the
Energy Estuary, which includes the largest offshore wind farm under construction in the world; several
existing and planned gas-fired power stations; and the UK’s largest biomass power station. The UK’s
largest ports complex and the UK’s largest Enterprise Zone underpin the area’s potential for further
industrial growth.12
While an ambitious project in its own right, there is a question about the extent to which this cluster
impacts on and offers opportunities for Leeds. The one and a half hour car journey between Leeds and
Humber may prohibit people who live in Leeds from seeking employment within the emerging green
cluster while public transport takes significantly longer. Nevertheless, given the development of
renewable energy sites across Leeds and given its world class university, there might be ways of
11

On industrial clusters see:
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/803086/i
ndustrial-clusters-mission-infographic-2019.pdf
12
https://www.humberlep.org/project/humber-industrial-decarbonisation-roadmap-hidr-phase-1/

Page 34

working and sharing learnings between Leeds and the Humber LEP on how to derive the most
economic benefit from decarbonisation.

Page 35

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
Report author: Stephen
Blackburn/Nichola Stephens

0

Tel: 0113 37 84571

Smart Cities Update
Date: 13th July 2022
Report of: Chief Digital and Information Officer
Report to: Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure, Investment and Inclusive Growth)
Will the decision be open for call in?

☐ Yes ☒ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐ Yes ☒ No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions


Smart Cities (now commonly referred to a ‘connected places’) reports have been previously
submitted to this Scrutiny Board that provided updates on technology-led projects,
connectivity roll out (e.g. full fibre), and references to the 100% Digital Leeds programme,
which also reports separately to the Board. This report is the latest update, and in line with
recent restructuring within the Integrated Digital Service (IDS), it will in future focus on
broader digital updates, including strategy and innovation.



This report will outline the contents of the new digital strategy for the City that is currently
being finalised and how it will support the Best City Ambition and three pillars of Inclusive
Growth, Health & Wellbeing, and Zero Carbon.



It will detail the digital transformation work that is underway to transform how the Council in
partnership with and Leeds Health Care Partnership (LHCP) will increasingly improve how it
collects, shares, and uses data and how it will utilise the latest technology to deliver 21 st
century services.



It will outline the planned programme of innovation and how it will align with the digital
strategy and digital roadmaps that are being drawn up by the Digital Change Team for each
service area.

Recommendations
a) Members are asked to support the approach being outlined in the digital strategy, the digital
transformation approach, and the innovation programme.
b) Agree any specific Scrutiny Board actions that may arise from this report.
c) Continue to provide oversight of the broader digital work being delivered by IDS by
continuing to receive update reports at this Board.

Page 37

Why is the proposal being put forward?
1 Digital solutions and technologies can radically improve how services are delivered in Leeds.
There are of course challenges that will need addressing to realise a more sustainable,
equitable Leeds that we all aspire to. However, these should be viewed in relation to the
opportunities that exist that will enable people, businesses and communities to prosper.
2 The use of digital technology, to support in the delivery of our services, offers many
opportunities that we must encourage and embrace. This is not simply about moving services
online however, we must also transform how we work. Bringing the digital services of the
council and LHCP together to create the Leeds Integrated Digital Service is the start of this
digital transformation, enabling us to provide a more joined up digital offer for the people of
Leeds.
3 As outlined in the table below, we will focus on people, processes and technology to digitalise
the organisation where we rethink existing manual processes and services, to not only digitise
them (e.g. moving from paper to digital), but also re-invent them.

TOP THREE CITY DIGITAL PRIORITIES
4 The ambition to transform how services are delivered and consumed is tall, and whilst the new
digital strategy (summarised below) provides a broad, high level steer, three key areas have
been identified as priorities that require immediate focus and are being treated as priorities:
5 System Flow: System Flow is concerned with ensuring seamless transfers of care for patients
between care settings, wherever they may be. In Leeds however, the main centre of attention
has been on transfers of care out of hospital. This narrower focus is mainly due to system-wide
pressures and high waiting lists.
6 At a basic level, transfers of care do take place as business as usual. This programme,
however, seeks to transform the patient and staff experience, and ensure that transfers of care
from one setting to another are safe, seamless and efficient. It has a key interdependency with
shared care records and data flows; however, it should be noted that to achieve transformation
in this area it will need to clearly articulate the business problem it is seeking to address, define
it as an outcome, baseline deliverables and take a people-centred approach.
7 Core Business Transformation: This is a major change programme which is seeking to bring
about a fundamental shift in the way Finance, Procurement, HR and Payroll activities are
undertaken across the council. The main objective is to review and, where appropriate
Page 38

challenge and change existing processes, systems and operations, improving them to optimise
the use of modern digital technology and good practice processes whilst reducing effort and
cost.
8 The programme arrived at a stage where we needed to engage specialists in digital and
organisational transformation who can provide up-do-date and innovative thinking and
experience from all sectors combined with firm industry practice and experience from other
consulting projects. EY have been chosen as the preferred bidder and we will commence
working with them to establish our current state, build the roadmap for transformation and
technology and produce the business case to proceed.
9 Security Operations Centre (SOC): A security operations centre supports the organisation by
monitoring, preventing, detecting, investigating, and responding to cyber threats 24/7, 365 days
per year. Like many organisations, the council would not be able to resource and run this type
of operation effectively itself, therefore the most cost effective and secure approach is to work
with a partner to deliver the service on our behalf.
10 A city-wide approach will be taken to encourage other organisations to sign up to the same
SOC agreement resulting in improved cyber security resilience across the city and deliver
economies of scale.
OTHER KEY PRIORITIES
11 Leeds has a strong healthcare sector that has resulted in strong healthtech and medtech
sectors. We are therefore uniquely placed to build on the Leeds Care Record that has
revolutionised how health data is shared across the healthcare system, and apply for further
funding that supports our innovation and transformation ambitions in this area.
12 Shared Care Record: Leeds prides itself on making the most of new ways of delivering health
and care for our populations combined with innovating technology. A great example of this, is
the Leeds Care Record which united the city to one vision – sharing information to improve
care. In the past ten years it has progressed from an idea to a mature digital care record which
shares relevant data with GPs, hospital, community, hospices, mental health and social care safely and securely. It is hugely successful in ensuring that around 10,000 clinical and care staff
have regular access to up to date information about a person they are caring for.
13 Leeds is in a good position to take advantage of evolving digital technology that supports the
progression towards an integrated health and care system and delivers against national
mandates to improve data sharing that transform care and digitise care settings. The City has
agreed to evolve the Leeds Care Record Project further towards an enhanced Shared Care
Record, by closing down the old project and launching a new Shared Care Records
Programme. This is not just a name change – it will involve improvements in who can access
the information, what they can see, and the technologies involved.
14 A new Shared Care Records Board has been established for Leeds and is in the process of
setting up programme governance and scoping the full work programme to transform Shared
Care Records for Leeds. The Board is chaired by Jason Broch (Chief Clinical Information
Officer) with support from Nichola Stephens and Kathryn Jeffreys from IDS.
15 Social Care Records: On 1 December 2021, the government published their ‘People at the
Heart of Care: adult social care reform’ white paper which details plans to accelerate the
adoption of technology and using the full potential of technology to support people’s lives and
Page 39

aspirations. It also pledges to ensure at least 60% of social care providers have a digitised care
record that can connect to a shared care record in place by March 2023 and 80% by March
2024.
16 Funding has been released to Integrated Care Systems (ICSs) to facilitate this digitisation and
Leeds has bid for approx. £305k to support feasibility of implementation of falls monitoring
devices, digitisation of 20 registered care providers with wrap around project management,
infrastructure, procurement, training and IG support in year 1. Take up by 20 providers will
allow Leeds to hit the 60% target. Further funding will be applied for, for year 2 of the project.
17 Additional funding will be released to help digitised social care providers access a regional
shared care record within 6 months of full digitisation.
18 Bids: The Strategy & Innovation Team keep abreast of funding opportunities as they
materialise and submit bids to NHS England and local government in line with national and
regional schemes being announced.
19 A bid for digitising of social care has been submitted for the sum of £305k in the first year, with
an opportunity to submit a further bid in 2023/24. Additionally, a £200k bid to support the IDS
innovation programme was successful and £125k bid to support the shared care record
programme has also been secured.
20 The team are currently submitting additional bids to support a variety of digital schemes for
Leeds.
LEEDS DIGITAL STRATEGY
21 A new City Digital Strategy is currently being finalised. It is a high-level document that outlines
the measures that will be taken to assist with addressing city challenges, underpinning Leeds’
Best City Ambition.
22 As introduced in Best City Ambition, the strategy adopts a four-stage ‘life course’ approach,
Starting Well, Living Well, Working Well and Ageing Well, that clearly articulates the
opportunities and challenges at every stage of a person’s life and how digital can support them
throughout their lives. For the purposes of the strategy, Living Well and Ageing Well have been
combined.
23 Whilst the strategy is focused on Leeds, its people, and services, it is written in the context of
national policies and strategies that focus on the wider challenges facing the UK and which will
have a significant impact on our plans such as the NHS Long Term Plan, the UK National Data
Strategy and the UK Government’s Technology Code of Practice.
24 The following sections summarise the main sections of the strategy that will be published by the
end of July 2022.
25 Starting Well: We will use modern digital technologies to understand the challenges associated
with population health and education and how they affect individuals from birth through to old
age. Understanding health and economic conditions prevalent across Leeds will help reduce
inequalities through providing more relevant and impactful services to families.
26 We will work increasingly with schools, colleges and community groups to encourage children
and young people to get involved in after school activities, code clubs and digital innovation
Page 40

work that helps develop their digital skills and get them interested in the technology sector. We
will promote the breadth of opportunities the sector offers, and ensure that they acquire workready digital skills from an early age.
27 Living and Ageing Well: We will implement intelligent and automated processes that make
services more efficient, convenient and joined up, and that are designed around the individual
and their needs.
28 We will use data to understand the challenges and inequalities being faced by the people of
Leeds, and share this intelligence with partners to define and deliver effective, personalised
services that support people to live good and healthy lives.
29 Working Well: We will build on existing collaboration across workforces in all sectors by
improving information flow between organisations and supporting the city’s inclusive growth
ambitions.
30 A thriving digital community, modern infrastructure and skilled workforce will attract new and
established businesses to invest in Leeds improving opportunities for the city and people of
Leeds. Taking a people-centred approach to service-design, we will deliver a co-ordinated
innovation network and community that champions Leeds as a city of innovation excellence. We
will encourage the testing and trialling of new technology in a real-world environment that both
supports local businesses and addresses city challenges.
31 Digital Foundations: Whilst the strategy outlines the ambitions for digital services and
technologies in Leeds, to deliver these, we need to get the basics right. Five digital foundations
have been outlined that set the baseline for which the rest of the strategy is built on and will
ensure that our ambitions are grounded, achievable and inclusive:
32 Data management, use and access: Data underpins everything we do. It is a valuable
resource that has the power to revolutionise how businesses are run and services are
delivered. It’s important however, that when collecting, using, storing, disposing, or sharing
personal data, it is managed appropriately and within an information governance framework that
instils confidence and is in line with data protection laws.
33 The Chief Data Officer for IDS will oversee the creation and delivery of a new Leeds Data
Strategy. Aligned with the National Data Strategy, it will identify where current data gaps exist
and outline opportunities and initiatives that will benefit the city.
34 We will expand the Office of Data Analytics which brings together data science expertise and
technologies resulting in improved data intelligence, decision making and service delivery.
35 Connectivity and infrastructure: Protecting our data and information is of paramount
importance. To ensure data and systems are protected from any threats (cyber or physical),
deliberately or otherwise, we will deliver a 24/7 365 security operations centre that will prioritise
the safety and security of people's data and be accessible by any organisation across Leeds.
36 We will follow a ‘Cloud First/Multi-Cloud’ approach that delivers best value for money, best
technological approach, and the highest security standards. We will take an open standards
approach for all software developments to ensure the maximum potential for systems
integration and interoperability.

Page 41

37 21st century connectivity and infrastructure provide the backbone for world-class service
delivery and supports our ‘connected place’ ambitions. The council is working closely with its
Full Fibre network partner BT, to provide gigabit capable fibre to 1,400 council buildings and
other public sector buildings (e.g. NHS and schools). Furthermore, it will enable up to 90% of
homes and businesses to access super-fast broadband by 2026, and supports the build out of a
5G network providing faster mobile connectivity across the district.
38 Additionally, the installation of the Leeds Wireless Innovation Network (Leeds WIN), that
supports the collection of real-time data from devices, is now complete and is being used by
innovators across the city and by the council to test temperature, air quality and footfall sensors.
39 Digital inclusion: The barriers to digital inclusion for many people are complex and link to
wider factors beyond the common issues of lack of skills, motivation or access to a device. We
will address these barriers to ensure that everyone in Leeds has equal opportunity to use digital
tools, technology and services in the right way for them.
40 Through further investment in the city’s flagship 100% Digital Leeds programme and by working
collaboratively through partnerships and networks, we will continue to build a co-ordinated and
connected digital inclusion ecosystem in more communities where people can gain the
motivation, skills and confidence to get online.
41 Digital skills: We take a life-long learning approach that will ensure everyone in Leeds has the
right skills to access services in a way that suits their needs, and that digital channels will be
accessible, well designed and so easy to use that they become most people’s preference. It is
important however that we adopt a ‘Digital First but not Digital Only’ stance that recognises that
not everyone will want to access services via a digital channel all of the time and that any digital
offer will be complimentary to existing channels.
42 In addition to supporting improving digital skills of the public and the wider workforce, it is
important that our own workforce has the requisite skills to facilitate the digital transformation
that the organisation requires. A digital academy will be created that will upskill staff in areas
such as data intelligence, cyber security and cloud.
43 Digital and data ethics: Data is easier to collect than ever before and technology is developing
so quickly that it is often difficult to keep pace. It’s therefore important that as these new
technologies become increasingly prevalent and are introduced more widely, that we have a
thorough understanding of them. Just because something can be done using technology,
doesn’t mean to say it should be.
44 We will develop data and digital ethics principles that provide checks and balances for any use
of data, or introduction of new technology, and draw upon expertise from across the City to
provide additional support and scrutiny. Leeds is already a champion of the “tech for good”
approach by taking a person-centric approach; embedding strong governance procedures will
support the approach that Leeds is regarded as the best destination for anyone who wants to
deliver services ethically and equitably.
DIGITAL INNOVATION PROGRAMME
45 The pandemic has highlighted that when we need to move at pace and deliver digital
transformation, we can succeed. Projects that may have traditionally taken months or years,
were delivered in weeks or even days.
Page 42

46 IDS provides digital services and support for both LCC and LHCP, and will oversee a
programme of innovation that is strategically aligned with the Best City Ambition, and three
pillars, and that takes its steer from the City Digital Strategy and Service Digital Roadmaps.
47 It is important however, that a co-ordinated approach to innovation is taken. A collaborative and
joined-up approach will not only ensure that the best skills and capabilities are tapped into, but
also avoid duplication and repetition.
48 Any innovation activity must focus on one, or all, of the following:
- Improves the services we deliver
- Improves outcomes for people
- Delivers efficiencies/savings
49 Technology is moving at a pace where it is often difficult to understand what works best.
Adopting an innovation approach to service delivery can therefore help us:
- Identify the problems and issues that need to be addressed first
- Understand how technology can facilitate improved outcomes
- Take a systematic approach to how we transform our organisations to deliver 21st century
services
50 The Strategy & Innovation team will co-ordinate and have oversight of all digital innovation
activity across LCC and LHCP. Utilising a new innovation platform, it will also connect with other
activity that is taking place across the city to promote best practice, ensure a co-ordinated
approach, and promote the City as a ‘centre of innovation excellence’.
51 This is a summary of the innovation activity that will take place over the next 12 – 18 months
and be delivered both in the city centre and localities.
52 Digital Leeds Labs: These are an extension of our innovation lab workshops and take a
human-centred approach, co-designing prototype solutions to city challenges that have been
raised by the Digital Change Team and where no obvious solution currently exists. They
involve a wide variety of stakeholders including members of the public, service providers,
academia, suppliers and developers. Previous innovation labs have produced new
technologies such as the Leeds Bins App.
53 Following the workshops the Strategy and Innovation Team will facilitate follow-up sessions with
key stakeholders to discuss the outcomes of the Lab and possible next steps.
54 IDS Supplier Days: These are either technical or non-technical events that allow a number of
suppliers to present real-life case studies, involving their solutions, to decision makers and
service leads. Whereas the City Labs focus on challenges where there are no obvious
solutions, these focus on how existing solutions could support the council/LHCP digital
transformation agenda.
55 The first Supplier Day was held on 22nd June focusing on Robotic Process Automation. Six
suppliers presented eight case studies focusing on healthcare and council challenges. At least
four Suppliers days will be held per year focusing on a wider variety of use cases and solutions.
56 Leeds Hackathon: These are single day, one-off sessions where a broader theme is focused
on, such as improving air quality or encouraging more active lifestyles. Suppliers, developers
and a variety of stakeholders team up to ideate and co-design a wide range of solutions.
Page 43

57 The purpose of the day is to generate lots of innovation activity resulting in a number of
interesting ideas that can be further explored at a future date. It is proposed that the Leeds
hackathon will be an annual event scheduled as part of the Leeds Digital Festival.
58 GovTech Leeds: These 6-month, longer-term innovation projects will take a deeper dive into
some of the City’s bigger challenges. They will follow a similar 2-phased approach taken by
other successful innovation programmes such as the UK Government’s GovTech Catalyst,
Scotland’s CivTech and the Greater London Authority’s Mayor’s Challenge.
59 IDS will set regular GovTech Challenges and invite participation from a wide variety of
suppliers. These will focus on areas where there is currently no obvious solution to the
challenge and where co-designing of a prototype product could:
-

Lead to a better understanding of the type of solution required
Lead to the further development of a new product that supports service delivery
Leads to a partnership with a supplier that generates income to support further innovation
Supports local start-ups and SMEs

What impact will this proposal have?
Wards affected:
Have ward members been consulted?

☐ Yes

☒ No

60 The work that is being delivered and supported by the Integrated Digital Service is being done
so by strategic prioritisation. In addition to the key priority areas that have already been
identified at the start of this report, the digital strategy and digital roadmaps will provide a steer
for the City Digital Board to determine future priorities and those that are ripe for innovation.
What consultation and engagement has taken place?
61 The development of the digital strategy included delivering 13 workshops, six of which were
predominantly targeted at the public and Leeds-based organisations, with the remining focusing
on council and healthcare colleagues.
62 The work outlined in this paper has been considered, reviewed and approved by the
appropriate council officer boards and Lead Member.
What are the resource implications?
63 The areas of work outlined in this report all have the aim of delivering more efficient services
and improving outcomes for the people of Leeds. The primary focus for the innovation work is to
identify how a more efficient use of data and technology can positively impact on resource
allocation, whilst maintaining or improving service delivery.
64 The delivery of projects is funded through existing funding and capital funding which is sourced
from Leeds City Council and the NHS. We also bid for money as outlined above.
What are the legal implications?
65 Decisions would not be subject to call-in and there are no specific legal implications or issues
relating to access to information.
Page 44

What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
66 Risk management of individual projects is built into the delivery of all IDS work. Programme
governance includes regular reporting to IDS SLT, other leadership teams and senior
stakeholders, as well as annual reports to this Scrutiny Board.
Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars?
☒ Inclusive Growth

☒ Health and Wellbeing

☒ Climate Emergency

67 All of the work outlined in the report plays a key role in achieving the council’s ambition to build
a compassionate city, tackling poverty and reducing inequalities. Work is aligned with the Best
City Ambition and the Health and Wellbeing, Inclusive Growth and Carbon Zero pillars.

Options, timescales and measuring success
What other options were considered?
68 Previous reports to this Board have focused specifically on ‘smart cities’ type-projects, that is,
those that incorporate some technological approach and that are being delivered across Leeds
City Council.
69 The restructure of IDS incorporating the digital functions of the LHCP, has offered the
opportunity to review what is presented to this Board with the outcome being to focus on the
broader digital work being undertaken by the service.
70 Unlike previous reports, the work being undertaken by 100% Digital Leeds has not been
referenced in this report, as a separate, comprehensive update is provided on an annual basis.
How will success be measured?
71 The digital strategy identifies a number of key priority areas and how they will positively impact
on people and businesses across Leeds. The IDS Strategy and Innovation Team will work
closely with other parts of IDS and service areas to ensure priority areas are being addressed
and positive outputs and outcomes are being delivered. Updates on strategy priority areas will
be provided at future Scrutiny Boards.
72 The governance and success will be managed by the Leeds Digital Board and the internal
Digital Board based on the priorities and outcomes we have been asked to deliver.
73 The IDS Digital Change team will complete digital roadmaps for all service areas to outline
ongoing work and identify future priorities. Some of this work will filter through to become
innovation projects as outlined earlier. The Strategy & Innovation Team will work closely with
services to review the impact of the intervention.
74 It should be noted that not all innovation work will result in the successful delivery of a solution,
however there will always be positive learning taken from each exercise and workshop that
future ones will benefit from. Longer-term success will be realised through how services are
delivered more efficiently, how staff resources are allocated more effectively and how staff
morale is improved for example through doing less repetitive and more meaningful work.

What is the timetable for implementation?
75 The digital strategy has a 3-year timeframe however, it will be regarded as a ‘live’ document
that will be updated and amended as dictated by external factors. A comprehensive review of
the strategy will take place in 2024.

Page 45

76 The innovation programme, as outlined in the innovation calendar (Appendix 1) is currently
planned over an 18 month timeframe, however as additional funding becomes available, this
will be augmented and extended.
77 Timeframes for the majority of the projects all have a final end date of March 2024
Appendices
78 Appendix 1 – Innovation calendar
Background papers
79 None.

Page 46

APPENDIX 1 INNOVATION CALENDAR
JANUARY 2022

FEBRUARY 2022

MARCH 2022

APRIL 2022

MAY 2022

JUNE 2022
IDS Supplier Day - RPA

JULY 2022

AUGUST 2022

Digital Leeds Labs
IDS/Microsoft Technical RPA Supplier Day
SEPTEMBER 2022

OCTOBER 2022

Leeds Hackathon (part of Leeds Digi Fest)

Digital Leeds Labs

Super Connected Cities 2023

IDS Supplier Day – Low Code

NOVEMBER 2022

DECEMBER 2022

Digital Leeds Labs

JANUARY 2023

FEBRUARY 2023
Digital Leeds Labs
IDS Supplier Day

MARCH 2023

APRIL 2023

Digital Leeds Labs

Digital Leeds Labs
GovTech Leeds (Discover Phase – 4 weeks)

MAY 2023

JUNE 2023

Digital Leeds Labs

Digital Leeds Labs

IDS Supplier Day

GovTech Leeds (Develop Phase – 12 weeks)

JULY 2023

AUGUST 2023

Digital Leeds Labs
IDS Supplier Day
SEPTEMBER 2023

OCTOBER 2023

Leeds Hackathon (part of Leeds Digi Fest)

Digital Leeds Labs
GovTech Leeds (Discover Phase – 4 weeks)

NOVEMBER 2023

DECEMBER 2023

Digital Leeds Labs

GovTech Leeds (Develop Phase – 12 weeks)

IDS Supplier Day

Page 47

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
Report author: Rebecca Atherton
Tel: 0113 378 8662

Inquiry Finalisation: Prevention of Deaths and Serious
Injuries on Leeds’ Roads
Date: 13 July 2022
Report of: Head of Democratic Services
Report to: Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure, Investment & Inclusive Growth)
Will the decision be open for call in?

☐ Yes ☒ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐ Yes ☒ No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions


The Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure, Investment and Inclusive Growth) has had a
longstanding interest in the ways in which partners work together to prevent deaths and
serious injuries on the road.



Consideration of this matter has traditionally taken place as part of the Board’s annual
performance monitoring activity. However, the 2021/22 Scrutiny Board agreed to conduct a
dedicated inquiry into this policy area following the reinstatement of ‘in person’ meetings
post-pandemic.



Meetings in September and October 2021 considered evidence from a range of
stakeholders. The conclusions and recommendations that emerged from those sessions
were summarised in a draft interim inquiry report, which was publicly available in January
2022. However, members requested that further time be allocated within the Scrutiny
Board’s schedule of public meetings to further examine several issues before the inquiry
report is finalised. Consideration of those additional matters took place in April 2022 with an
agreement that the final report would be considered by the 2022/23 Scrutiny Board early in
the new municipal year.



It should be noted that in February 2022 the Scrutiny Board provided the interim draft inquiry
report to the Executive Board to support a proposal for Leeds City Council to adopt a Vision
Zero approach to road safety.

Recommendations
Members are asked to consider the appended inquiry report and note the officer responses to the
Board’s recommendations.
Why is the proposal being put forward?
1. The report summarises the recommendations of the Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure,
Investment and Inclusive Growth) following the 2021/22 inquiry into the prevention of
deaths and serious injuries on Leeds roads.
Page 49

What impact will this proposal have?
Wards affected: All
Have ward members been consulted?

☐ Yes

☐No

1. The information in the report will provide a basis for members to monitor ongoing progress
in this area. Such performance monitoring has historically taken place in the context of the
Best Council Plan, as required by the Budget and Policy Framework.
2. Members are aware that there is an ongoing review into the way in which performance will
be monitored in future following the adoption of the Best City Ambition. However, the
Board is keen to ensure that regardless of the formal framework for performance
monitoring the issues considered in the appended inquiry report should continue to be
subject to regular examination by the Scrutiny Board.
What consultation and engagement has taken place?
3. Members of the Scrutiny Board have sought the views of a wide range of stakeholders, as

summarised in the inquiry report. The interim report was presented to the Scrutiny Board
and relevant stakeholders in January 2022. The final report reflects the views of the
Scrutiny Board as expressed at the public meeting of the Board on 6 April 2022.
What are the resource implications?
4. The report does not have any specific resource implications.
What are the legal implications?
5. This report has no specific legal implications.
What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
6. There are no risk management implications relevant to this report.
Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars?
☒ Inclusive Growth
☒ Health and Wellbeing

☐ Climate Emergency

7. The inquiry has given due consideration to matters that are reflective of the Council’s three
key pillars. The Scrutiny Board’s recommendations to date have been set within the
context of the recently adopted Best City Ambition.
Appendices
8. Appendix 1 – Recommendation Table
9. Appendix 2 – Scrutiny Board Inquiry Report
10. Appendix 3 – Vision Zero Action Plan included within the draft Leeds Safer Roads Vision
Zero 2040 consultation documents considered by Executive Board on 9 February 2022
Background papers
11. None.

Page 50

Appendix 1: Recommendation Table
Scrutiny Board Inquiry into Prevention of Deaths and
Serious Injuries on Leeds’ Roads
The table below sets out the recommendations of the 2021/22 Infrastructure,
Investment and Inclusive Growth Scrutiny Board’s inquiry into the prevention of
deaths and serious injuries on Leeds’ roads.
Officers have provided an initial response to the recommendations below with a view
to enabling the Board to consider the progress made against its initial
recommendations in future.

Recommendations to National Legislators
Scrutiny
Inquiry
Report
Ref

Recommendations to National Legislators

Road Safety
criteria
requirement for
infrastructure
investment

5.10

To recommend to Government that explicit road safety
requirements form standard criteria in all transport
infrastructure investment to promote scheme design in
line with a Vision Zero approach.

June 2022 Officer response: Supported – this should be done at a West
Yorkshire level from the West Yorkshire Vision Zero Board / West Yorkshire
Safe Roads Executive.
It can also be sent from the Leeds Safe Roads Partnership (LSRP).
Lobbying via the Parliamentary Advisory Council for Transport Safety
(PACTS) also to be considered.
LSRP Chair Gillian Macleod to report scrutiny findings to LSRP and agree to
write to Alison Lowe within one month of the date of the LSRP meeting.
To support the inclusion of roads policing within the
National status of
strategic policing requirement to increase the visibility
roads policing
and status of this work.

5.11

June 2022 Officer response: Supported – this should be done at West
Yorkshire level by the West Yorkshire Vision Zero Board and review the
need for local level policing agreements to prioritise enforcement of
speeding offences.
LSRP Chair Gillian Macleod to report scrutiny findings to LSRP and agree to
write to Alison Lowe within one month of the date of the LSRP meeting.

Page 51

Safety Camera
Criteria

5.27

To advocate that the Department for Transport allows
greater flexibility within a revised circular 1/2007 so as to
enable the installation of safety cameras in response to
emerging risk in addition to the existing ‘high risk’ criteria.
To lobby Government to ensure the views of local elected
representatives inform the consultation on a revised
Department for Transport circular 1/2007.

June 2022 Officer response: This request has already been put to the DfT
by the LSRP. Members of the LSRP are party to the consultation and
continue to promote the requested flexibility. The West Yorkshire Safety
Camera Partnership proposes implementing amended local criteria until
such time as the amended national criteria are published – expected to be
towards the end of 2022.
Action SPD5 (subject to change in the final version to be reported to
Executive Board in September 2022): Respond to DfT consultation or
updates to the criteria for camera placement and work with the West
Yorkshire Casualty Prevention Partnership accordingly
Frequency and timescale: as required.
Use of Average
Speed Cameras

To explore with West Yorkshire Casualty Prevention
Partnership options for deploying average speed
cameras along some lengths of road in Leeds.

June 2022 Officer Response:
5.33

As above – amended local criteria will include those for use of average
speed cameras. A review of sites to meet these criteria will be undertaken
during 2022/23 by the WYSCP and appropriate sites funded or put forward
for when appropriate funding is available.
Legislation
regarding the
use of handheld
devices

5.40

To lobby Government to deliver legislative changes that
that would enable the police to take direct enforcement
action in any circumstances where drivers use handheld
devices while at the wheel.

June 2022 Officer response: Legislative changes that came into force on
25 March 2022 make enforcement of these offences more straightforward.
Some issues remain, though, in relation to establishing whether the phone
was in use at the time of the suspected offence. VZ will monitor changes in
police enforcement via Operation Snap / RPU enforcement data.
Frequency and timescale: as available.
Requirements for
new vehicle set
up

5.43

To lobby Government to require manufacturers and resellers to demonstrate to consumers how in car
technology can be used to restrict smartphone use to
incoming hands-free calls while driving.

June 2022 Officer response: Recommendation to be reviewed as part of
VZ action plan. NEW action required.

Page 52

Graduated Driver
Licence

To lobby government to reconsider the introduction of a
graduated driver licence in the UK.

5.71
June 2022 Officer Response: Recommendation to be reviewed as part of
VZ action plan. NEW action required.

Strengthening Local Operational Practice
Ref

Recommendations Regarding Local Practice
Political
leadership
regionally
5.7

June 2022 Officer response: The West Yorkshire Vision Zero Board
(established December 2021) has political representation from Leeds from
Cllr Helen Hayden, lead member for Infrastructure and Climate.

Direct
representation
on Vision Zero
Board
5.7

Ensure that there is clear, cross-party political leadership
at a regional level with politicians represented on a Vision
Zero Board.

Co-opt representatives of victims of road death on to the
proposed regional Vision Zero Board to ensure ‘critical
friend’ challenge and placing them at the centre of policy
making.

June 2022 Officer Response: VZ Board includes – local road safety
campaigner Ian Greenwood and representative from BRAKE the road safety
charity.

Partnership
working

Identify potential opportunities for closer partnership
working, including more collaboration at a targeted local
level to maximise the impact of existing resources.

June 2022 Officer response: Recommendation to be reviewed as part of
VZ action plan. LSRP seeks to ensure partnership working at the local
level.

5.9

Action VZ3 (subject to change in the final version to be reported to
Executive Board in September 2022) Hold meetings of the Leeds Safer
Roads Partnership and regularly review membership.
Frequency and timescale: every six weeks.
Action VZ8 (subject to change in the final version to be reported to
Executive Board in September 2022) Identify local and regional
organisations to engage with, including road users who are more
vulnerable to traffic injury, drivers and people, ensuring diversity and
equality in our approach.
Frequency and timescale: ongoing.

Page 53

Partnership
working between
highways and
planning officers
5.49

Ensure that opportunities to secure funding for road
safety interventions through the planning system are
maximised, and that the detail of schemes is informed by
community knowledge of locations of risk and/or
dangerous behaviour.

June 2022 Officer response: Supported – local ward members to liaise with
Highways development officers during pre-application / planning application
process – contact: gillian.macleod@leeds.gov.uk

Community
structures to
tackle dangerous
driver behaviour

5.51

Consider ways in which multiple agencies can work more
closely with community committees and ward members
to identify concerns about road safety – with a view to
improving local intelligence, providing evidence of
emerging risks and delivering targeted interventions that
address dangerous behaviours – potentially using a
model similar to that used to address Anti-Social
Behaviour.

June 2022 Officer response: Recommendation to be reviewed as part of
VZ action plan (officers to arrange discussion with ASB team to review
model). NEW action required.
Action SPD10 (subject to change in the final version to be reported to
Executive Board in September 2022) Review and relaunch the community
speed awareness scheme and prepare a community guide about how to
deal with local speed problems and information about SID machines.
Frequency and timescale: every two years
Action SPD11 (subject to change in the final version to be reported to
Executive Board in September 2022) Identify ways to work closely with the
community through neighbourhood police teams and local councillors to
understand where speeding occurs.
Frequency and timescale: ongoing

Language

5.52

Ensure that the language used to frame debate and
communicate policy articulates road death and injury as
a public health issue, reflecting the cause of collisions
and the centrality of the impact of road death and injury
on victims.

June 2022 Officer response: The language of road danger was identified
as part of VZ Strategy. Recommendation to be reviewed as part of VZ
action plan.
Action COM1 (subject to change in the final version to be reported to
Executive Board in September 2022) Develop a workshop for media
professionals on how to best communicate about collisions.
Frequency and timescale: annually

Page 54

Pedestrian
Crossing
Technology
5.62

The results of a review of accident statistics at pedestrian
crossings to be provided to the Scrutiny Board to
understand the impact of changing technology.

June 2022 Officer response:
The accident statistics at pedestrian crossings will be monitored during
2022/23 for report back in 2023.
School Crossing
Patrols

5.63

The School Crossing Patrol Team and the Influencing
Travel Behaviour Team to assess options to provide
additional support to schools where an application for a
school crossing patrol is unsuccessful.

June 2022 Officer response: Recommendation to be reviewed as part of VZ
action plan. NEW action required

School Crossing
Patrols

5.64

To increase the visibility of information on the Council’s
website about the process to apply for a school crossing
patrol and the details of how to pay for that service if the
application is unsuccessful.

June 2022 Officer response: Recommendation to be reviewed as part of
VZ action plan. NEW Action required.
Action RDS2 (subject to change in the final version to be reported to
Executive Board in September 2022): Continue to develop and deliver the
annual pedestrian crossing programme and signpost people about how to
make requests.
Frequency and timescale: annually
Amplifying the
voice of victims
in education

Explore education materials that amplify the
consequences of road death through the experiences of
victims and their representatives

Recommendation to be reviewed as part of VZ action plan.

5.69

Action PCR6 (subject to change in the final version to be reported to
Executive Board in September 2022): In a trauma-informed way, draw on
the experiences of victims and their families and all others affected to
support behaviour change and post-collision learning and consider how
these might support wider communications plan and education.
Frequency and timescale: every two years.

Page 55

Extend
education
programmes to
include further
education
institutions
5.70

Identify ways to engage with more young people who
may have recently become new drivers, specifically
including further education institutions.

June 2022 Officer response: Recommendation to be reviewed as part of
VZ action plan – opportunities for engagement to reach young drivers 1724 age group are being considered at West Yorkshire level.
VZ Action EDU1 (subject to change in the final version to be reported to
Executive Board in September 2022): Regularly review and coordinate
delivery of road safety education and training for delivery to a range of
audiences and settings.
Frequency and timescale: every two years.
Communication

Explore opportunities to promote more road safety
messages on digital signage (Variable Messaging Signs)
across the Leeds’ road network.

June 2022 Officer response:
5.71

A new UTMC system upgrade will allow scrolling messages (to include
road safety messaging) to be programmed.
Action RDS5 (subject to change in the final version to be reported to
Executive Board in September 2022): Develop the network of VMS signs
and display messages about road safety.
Frequency and timescale: annually
Provision of KSI
information on
Data Mill North

Ensure accurate and updated information about KSI
figures is published on Data Mill North and provide clear
signposting to this data.

June 2022 Officer response: This will be reviewed as part of VZ action
plan, to including appointment of a validator to review the accuracy of the
data and clear signposting to Data Mill North.

5.73

Action DAT1 (subject to change in the final version to be reported to
Executive Board in September 2022): Revise casualty data in line with the
DfT’s adjustments and use full adjusted 5-year data set when available.
Frequency and timescale: as available
Action DAT2 (subject to change in the final version to be reported to
Executive Board in September 2022): Carry out in-depth analysis of data to
understand who is causing the harm, the factors contributing to KSI
collisions and to identify emerging issues that cause death and serious
injury on our roads.
Frequency and timescale: quarterly

Page 56

SCRUTINY BOARD INQUIRY REPORT
Preventing People Being Killed or Seriously
Injured On Roads in Leeds
July 2022

Page 57

Infrastructure, Investment & Inclusive
Growth Scrutiny Board

Scrutiny Board Membership (2021/22):
Cllr J Bentley
Cllr N Buckley
Cllr Katie Dye
Cllr Bob Gettings
Cllr J Goddard
Cllr A Hussain
Cllr L Martin
Cllr M Shahzad
Cllr N Sharpe
Cllr J Taylor
Cllr P Truswell (Chair)
Cllr P Wadsworth

- Weetwood
- Alwoodley
- Killingbeck & Seacroft
- Morley North
- Roundhay
- Gipton & Harehills
- Roundhay
- Moortown
- Temple Newsam
- Horsforth
- Middleton Park
- Guiseley & Rawdon

Infrastructure,
Investment &
Inclusive Growth
Scrutiny Board
Focusing on
development and
infrastructure functions
and services to monitor
progress in relation to
transport and planning,
regeneration and
housing growth. The
Board will also oversee
economic growth
functions and services
to monitor progress
towards being a strong
and compassionate
city, promoting
opportunities for
access to learning,
skills and employment
for all.
Queries in relation to this
report can be directed to the
Principal Scrutiny Officer
supporting the inquiry:
Rebecca Atherton

Becky.atherton@leeds.gov.uk
 0113 37 88642
Further information about
the work of the committee
can be found here:
Infrastructure,
Investment & Inclusive
Growth Scrutiny Board
For regular updates about
Leeds City Council’s
Scrutiny Service follow us
on Twitter:

@ScrutinyLeeds
Page 58

Contents
Contents

Foreword

Page 1

Summary
Aims of the Inquiry

Page 2

Recommendations

Page 3

Part One
Inquiry Approach

Page 5

Part Two
Examining the Evidence

Page 6

Page 59

Foreword
Foreword from the Chair
Our Board heard powerful evidence from a range of partners and stakeholders during this
Inquiry. All of them were passionate about preventing people from being killed or injured on our
roads. The most compelling contributions came from parents who shared their heart-rending
experiences about their children dying on our roads.
The words of those parent campaigners prompted wide ranging questions and debate. They
encouraged Board members to rethink the language we use to discuss road safety: to stop
talking about “accidents” and “casualty reduction” and to ensure victims are at the centre of
any policies that aim to make our roads safer. They urged us to regard deaths and injuries on
our roads as a public health challenge, rather than one relating purely to highways
engineering, traffic management and enforcement.
It was clear that there is a huge willingness from those working on the ground to do whatever
they can to prevent people dying or sustaining injuries on our roads.
Addressing the complex causes of road traffic collisions will undoubtedly require further
resources to improve infrastructure, enforcement and in-car technology. However, securing
national recognition of our “road safety emergency” is an immediate priority, along with
empowering public, private and third sector partners to act together to maximise the impact of
existing resources.
It is also clear that we need a robust programme of education that promotes both a
behavioural shift in our approach to road safety and a collective intolerance of any
complacency regarding the number of people dying or suffering injury on our roads.
I want to extend my sincere thanks on behalf of the Board to the campaigners, partners, and
council officers and who contributed to the Board’s discussions. Your advice, expertise and
experiences have been invaluable in enabling the Board to reach its conclusions.

Cllr Paul Truswell
Chair, Infrastructure, Investment & Inclusive Growth Scrutiny Board

1
Page 60

Summary
1. Aims of the Inquiry
➢ To understand how the proposed adoption of Vision Zero could help partners prevent
death and injury on roads in Leeds.
To specifically explore how partners could work together within this framework to:
➢ Improve the safety of road environments in local communities, particularly for vulnerable
road users and young people.
➢ Make best use of technology and policy development to address dangerous behaviours
➢ Identify further opportunities to influence behaviour change.

2. Key Findings
2.1 The Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure, Investment and Inclusive Growth) fully endorsed the
adoption of the proposed Vision Zero approach to road safety in Leeds, with the ambition
at its heart that no one should be killed or seriously injured on our roads.
2.2 The Board agreed that delivering Vision Zero “should
be everyone’s business.” This means that physical
interventions, technological advances and
enforcement activity must be supported by a
programme of community engagement,
communication and education that encourages a
significant change in attitudes to road safety.

“Road traffic collisions are
not inevitable. They are
entirely preventable.”

2.3 Members advocated strengthening and extending existing partnership arrangements to
maximise the impact of every pound spent on road safety. Stakeholders also agreed that
genuine and constructive engagement with local communities was essential to develop a
stronger evidence base to inform targeted road safety interventions.
2.4 Members supported campaigners’ views that we should move away from language that
inadvertently implies that road deaths and injuries are inevitable. Our approach should be
victim-centred and reflect the belief that collisions on the road are preventable.
2.5 The Scrutiny Board further recommended that road safety should be viewed as a public
heath challenge and that there should be visible political leadership on this issue at a city
and regional level.
2.6 Full details of the Scrutiny Board’s deliberations and recommendations are set out below.

2
Page 61

Summary
3. Recommendations
Recommendations to National Legislators
Recommendations to National Legislators

Ref

Road Safety criteria
requirement for
infrastructure
investment

To recommend to Government that explicit road safety requirements
form standard criteria in all transport infrastructure investment to 5.10
promote scheme design in line with a Vision Zero approach.

National status of
roads policing

To support the inclusion of roads policing within the strategic policing
5.11
requirement to increase the visibility and status of this work.

Safety Camera
Criteria

To advocate that the Department for Transport allows greater flexibility
within a revised circular 1/2007 so as to enable the installation of safety
cameras in response to emerging risk in addition to the existing ‘high
risk’ criteria.
5.27
To lobby Government to ensure the views of local elected
representatives inform the consultation on a revised Department for
Transport circular 1/2007.

Use of Average
Speed Cameras

To explore with West Yorkshire Casualty Prevention Partnership
options for deploying average speed cameras along some lengths of 5.33
road in Leeds.

Legislation
regarding the use of
handheld devices

To lobby Government to deliver legislative changes that that would
enable the police to take direct enforcement action in any 5.40
circumstances where drivers use handheld devices while at the wheel.

Requirements for
new vehicle set up

To lobby Government to require manufacturers and re-sellers to
demonstrate to consumers how in car technology can be used to 5.43
restrict smartphone use to incoming hands-free calls while driving.

Graduated Driver
Licence

To lobby government to reconsider the introduction of a graduated
5.71
driver licence in the UK.

Strengthening Local Operational Practice
Recommendations Regarding Local Practice
Political leadership
regionally

Ref

Ensure that there is clear, cross-party political leadership at a regional
5.7
level with politicians represented on a Vision Zero Board.

3
Page 62

Summary
Direct
representation on
Vision Zero Board

Co-opt representatives of victims of road death on to the proposed
regional Vision Zero Board to ensure ‘critical friend’ challenge and 5.7
placing them at the centre of policy making.

Partnership
working

Identify potential opportunities for closer partnership working, including
more collaboration at a targeted local level to maximise the impact of 5.9
existing resources.

Partnership
working between
highways and
planning officers

Ensure that opportunities to secure funding for road safety interventions
through the planning system are maximised, and that the detail of
5.49
schemes is informed by community knowledge of locations of risk
and/or dangerous behaviour.

Community
structures to tackle
dangerous driver
behaviour

Consider ways in which multiple agencies can work more closely with
community committees and ward members to identify concerns about
road safety – with a view to improving local intelligence, providing
5.51
evidence of emerging risks and delivering targeted interventions that
address dangerous behaviours – potentially using a model similar to
that used to address Anti-Social Behaviour.

Language

Ensure that the language used to frame debate and communicate policy
articulates road death and injury as a public health issue, reflecting the
5.52
cause of collisions and the centrality of the impact of road death and
injury on victims.

Pedestrian
Crossing
Technology

The results of a review of accident statistics at pedestrian crossings to
be provided to the Scrutiny Board to understand the impact of changing 5.62
technology.

School Crossing
Patrols

The School Crossing Patrol Team and the Influencing Travel Behaviour
Team to assess options to provide additional support to schools where 5.63
an application for a school crossing patrol is unsuccessful.

School Crossing
Patrols

To increase the visibility of information on the Council’s website about
the process to apply for a school crossing patrol and the details of how 5.64
to pay for that service if the application is unsuccessful.

Amplifying the
voice of victims in
education

Explore education materials that amplify the consequences of road
5.69
death through the experiences of victims and their representatives

Extend education
programmes to
include further
education
institutions

Identify ways to engage with more young people who may have recently
5.70
become new drivers, specifically including further education institutions.

4
Page 63

Summary
Communication

Explore opportunities to promote more road safety messages on digital
5.71
signage (Variable Messaging Signs) across the Leeds’ road network.

Provision of KSI
information on
Data Mill North

Ensure accurate and updated information about KSI figures is published
5.73
on Data Mill North and provide clear signposting to this data.

5
Page 64

Part One
4. Inquiry Approach
4.1 In recent years, the Infrastructure, Investment and Inclusive Growth Scrutiny Board has
explored the challenges of improving local road safety on an annual basis, often
alongside partners such as West Yorkshire Police.
4.2 Such discussions have been informed by performance data detailing the number of
people killed or seriously injured in road traffic collisions. Areas of particular concern have
included risks for vulnerable road users and a perception that KSI data suggests a
disproportionate impact on young people.
4.3 Board members recommended in 2020 that road safety should be an area for a more
detailed inquiry by the Board. However, in light of the covid-19 pandemic the inquiry was
deferred until 2021/22.
4.4 The experience of the restrictions that formed part of the pandemic response provided a
new context for the Board’s inquiry. Between January - December 2020 Leeds recorded
its lowest ever annual KSI figure (231) and there was a
47% reduction in KSI figures for April and May 2020, as
compared to the same period in 2019. During this period in
“Everyone has a
2020 the country was experiencing its first full pandemicrelated ‘lockdown’ involving wide-ranging restrictions on
part to play in
changing dangerous travel. The figures for this period expose in stark terms the
direct correlation between reduced traffic volumes and the
behaviours and
number of those killed or seriously injured in road traffic
making our roads
collisions.

safer.”

4.5 In this period the Leeds Safer Roads Partnership (LSRP) formally set out an ambition to
make sure that, no later than 2040, no one will be killed or seriously injured on the roads
in Leeds: a ‘Vision Zero’ approach to casualty prevention.
4.6 The Board was keen to explore this ambition in further detail and to understand how
partners can together achieve that ambition, despite the context of an anticipated
increase in traffic volumes as the city emerges from pandemic-restrictions.
4.7 The initial inquiry was structured across two meetings in Autumn 2021 as per the detail
below.

6
Page 65

Part One
Inquiry Structure
Stage One
➢ Exploring what is meant by a Vision Zero approach to road safety.
➢ Understanding trends through KSI data from the last 5 years
➢ KSI Clusters and interventions delivered through the Casualty Reduction
Programme.
➢ West Yorkshire Casualty Prevention Partnership
➢ Proposed re-assessment of criteria used to determine the deployment of static,
mobile and average speed cameras.
➢ Enforcement options available to tackle dangerous behaviours.

Stage Two
➢
➢
➢
➢
➢

Local road safety campaigners’ views and experiences
School Streets initiative
Active Neighbourhoods
Roll out of 20mph zones
Influencing Travel Behaviour Team

7
Page 66

Part One
Contributors to the Inquiry

Partners
Chief Superintendent Edward Chesters – West Yorkshire Police
Inspector Chief Inspector Andrew Loftus – West Yorkshire Police
Inspector Nick Berry – West Yorkshire Police
Paul Jeffrey – Partnership & Innovation Manager, Casualty Prevention Bureau
Ian Greenwood – Road Safety Campaigner
Paula Knights – Road Safety Campaigner
Jill Walshaw – Road Safety Campaigner
John Scruby – Support and Care After Death (SCARD)
David Smith – Victim & Witness Support (WYCA)

Leeds City Council
Gary Bartlett – Chief Officer, Highways & Transportation
Lynsey McGarvey – Principal Transport Planner
Gillian McLeod – Transport Development Service Manager
Nicholas Hunt – Traffic Engineering Manager
Vicky Franks – Safer & Sustainable Travel Team Leader
Richard Jackson – Head of Service
Joel Dodsworth – UTMC Manager

Councillors (Non-Board Members)
Cllr Helen Hayden

8
Page 67

Part Two
5. Examining The Evidence
Vision Zero
5.1 The Scrutiny Board explored the Vision Zero approach to casualty prevention and
welcomed the proposed adoption of this ‘Safe System’ approach in Leeds. The Board
endorsed proposals to move away from traditional, and often reactive, road safety
strategy to a more integrated approach based on shared responsibility.
5.2 The Board unanimously welcomed the introduction of an approach premised on the fact
that all road deaths and serious injuries are preventable. This view was echoed by road
safety campaigners who underlined the devastating impact of collisions on victims and
the urgency of preventing the ongoing tragedy of multiple fatalities on our roads.
5.3 Stakeholders outlined the practical implications of Vision Zero’s Safe System approach. It
was acknowledged that people will still make mistakes on the road. However, taking a
holistic view of road systems will reduce the likelihood of mistakes occurring and, where
there are collisions, the expectation is that people will not be killed or seriously injured.
5.4 A recurring theme throughout the Board’s deliberations was an acknowledgement of the
complex number of causes of road collisions and the wide range of stakeholders that
need to be part of the solution. Alongside those responsible for planning and highways
engineering, enforcement agencies, policy makers and educators, the Board considered
the role of vehicle manufacturers and the wider role citizens have in encouraging longterm behaviour change.
5.5 Given the extensive range of potential stakeholders, it is the view of the Board that there
must be clear political leadership in Leeds and across West Yorkshire to ensure
ownership and accountability for the Vision Zero agenda.
5.6 Establishing such visible political leadership would also address the concerns expressed
by campaigners about a perceived lack of public accountability for the overall casualty
prevention agenda.
5.7 The Board endorsed a proposal to establish a politically led Vision Zero Board through
WYCA. They further recommended that the co-option onto the Board of representatives
of those directly affected by road death and injury would strengthen the focus on victims.
5.8 The Scrutiny Board’s deliberations highlighted at various instances that finite resources
would always require decisions from all partners about what activities or road safety
interventions are prioritised. It was acknowledged, for example, that it would not be
possible to install traffic calming measures across all the new 20mph areas in the city.

9
Page 68

Part Two
Instead, the principle of shared responsibility set out within Vision Zero would require
identification of how behaviour change can be encouraged to prevent the human causes
of many collisions.
5.9 The Board also heard that the targeting and impact of every ‘road safety pound’ could be
maximised through closer localised working across partner organisations. This could
involve joint decision-making and joint resource allocation. Members were reminded that
the delivery of data led road safety initiatives continues to show high value for money,
providing a range of indirect health and wellbeing benefits alongside road casualty
prevention.
5.10 Members discussed the way in which resources can influence infrastructure design. They
expressed concern that the varied sources of funding for individual infrastructure projects
could predetermine how far ‘road safety’ features were included in a design. Rather than
categorise projects as specifically ‘road safety’ works the Board suggested Government
should require explicit reference to road safety criteria in all infrastructure projects.
5.11 Members agreed that if road safety had a higher national profile there would be an
increased likelihood of such considerations being regarded as ‘cross cutting’ all policy
areas. The Board therefore supported the view of police colleagues who advocated road
policing having a comparable status in policing requirements as other major threats.

Policy and Legislation
5.12 The Board considered the statutory legislation that currently provides a framework for
road safety activity and interventions including the Road Traffic Act 1988. It was noted
that this is supplemented by local policies including the Best Council Plan.
5.13 Historically the Board has considered KSI data as part of its ongoing performance
monitoring responsibilities. As the Council transitions from the Best Council Plan to the
Best City Ambition the Board is keen to ensure that any new set of performance
indicators should enable the ongoing monitoring of KSI data.
5.14 The Board supported the Executive Board’s approval of the Leeds Safer Roads Vision
Zero 2040 Strategy in February 2022, and its adoption in Summer 2022 following a
period of consultation. It was noted that this approach had been established through the
Executive Board’s approval of the Leeds Transport Strategy in October 2021.

10
Page 69

Part Two
5.15 The Scrutiny Board concluded that the successful adoption of the Vision Zero approach
would also deliver outcomes that would contribute to the three corporate ‘pillars’ of
inclusive growth, health and well-being and climate change.
5.16 West Yorkshire Police representatives confirmed their commitment to Vision Zero as set
out in a refreshed West Yorkshire Police Safer Roads Strategic Plan. The Board explored
the key ‘threats’ identified in that strategy: vulnerable road users, drug/drink driving,
failure to wear a seatbelt, illegal or inappropriate speeding and the illegal use of mobile
phones or other devices that cause distraction.
5.17 At a regional level, the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner became part of the
West Yorkshire Combined Authority in May 2021. As such the Mayor is now responsible
for setting a Police and Crime Plan. The Board noted the reported commitment by the
West Yorkshire Mayor and the Deputy Mayor to road safety.

Reporting Casualty Data: CRASH
5.18 The Board received an overview of the 2021 change to the way West Yorkshire Police
record road traffic collisions. The system now being used – Collison Reporting and
Sharing System (CRASH) – automatically assigns a severity of classification to each
casualty according to the injuries recorded by the reporting officer.
5.19 It is anticipated that the new system will see a significant increase in the proportion of
reported causalities classified as ‘serious.’
5.20 Representatives from West Yorkshire Police acknowledged that, like any new system,
there will be ‘teething problems’ with CRASH. However, the system was described as an
improvement in the way KSI data is analysed across the county. The view of police
representatives was that the system is a more effective intelligence product with a strong
focus on demographics that will help focus prevention and enforcement activity.
5.21 Members discussed KSI figures for the last five years and the revised datasets that have
been - and will be - published to enable more accurate historic comparisons following the
introduction of the new reporting system. The adjusted data for Leeds 2016-19 resulted in
a 43% increase in the number of serious casualties recorded.
5.22 In examining KSI data members highlighted the disproportionate number of young victims
reflected in the statistics and the clear correlation between reduced traffic levels and the
number of people killed or injured on the road during the pandemic.

11
Page 70

Part Two
5.23 The Scrutiny Board explored the impact of perceptions of road safety on the willingness
of citizens to pursue active travel alternatives and highlighted the potential benefits for
health and well-being if citizens had greater confidence to walk or cycle.

Enforcement
5.24 Members discussed the links between some aspects of road safety and wider criminality,
including the use of ‘grey vehicles’ by criminal networks. The importance of joining up
community and criminal intelligence to inform resource allocation was debated, along with
the need to have a variety of tools at the disposal of enforcement officers to tackle such
behaviours.
5.25 It was noted that the use of some enforcement tactics can be polarising for the public –
including fixed and mobile speed cameras. In West Yorkshire there is a view that the
strict use of clear set of criteria in relation to siting cameras has helped maintain greater
public confidence in the justification of their use.
5.26 In 2020 West Yorkshire police brought about 192,000 prosecutions for speed and redlight violations on urban and strategic networks, which is second only to the Metropolitan
Police. There are 19 high risk mobile sites in Leeds and 118 static sites.
5.27 The Scrutiny Board heard evidence form the Casualty Prevention Partnership about the
criteria, contained with the Department for Transport circular 1/2007, used to determine
the site of fixed and mobile speed cameras in Leeds.
5.28 Members expressed concern about the retention of current ‘high risk’ criteria which were
introduced by the Department for Transport during the original national safety camera
pilot. Board members highlighted community concerns that the current system of siting
cameras requires a tragedy to have occurred before action can be taken to address
dangers that are often well known by local people.
5.29 Members advocated the adoption a broader set of criteria that could enable a proactive,
preventative approach to installing cameras in sites identified as posing an emerging risk.
5.30 The Board was informed that the Casualty Prevention Partnership is also supportive of
revised criteria being introduced to increase flexibility around the installation of cameras.
Feedback to that effect has been provided to the Department for Transport.
5.31 Members welcomed the input of the Casualty Prevention Partnership to the Department
for Transport’s review of circular 1/2007. However, in addition to the contribution of
regional technical experts, it was the opinion of the Board that local elected members

12
Page 71

Part Two
should also be involved in the consultation process to reflect the views of their
communities.
5.32 The cost of installing, maintaining and processing offences that are generated from
speed cameras was examined. It was noted that Casualty Prevention Partnership is cost
effective in comparison to other localities and has increased the number of offences it
processes. However, there remains a requirement for speed cameras to be self-funding.
5.33 The Board confirmed its support for partners exploring the use of average speed cameras
along some lengths of road in Leeds. While there is a risk of displacing traffic, the
evidence also suggests they could be a strong technical asset, discouraging “camera
surfing” (drivers speeding up between cameras) while reducing congestion and street
furniture.
5.34 The Scrutiny Board explored activity that falls within the Leeds District Neighbourhood
Policing Team’s ‘Operation Amberland.’ This road safety initiative targets roads
highlighted as a concern by local communities through web reporting, Operation SNAP
(downloading of dashcam footage) or community meetings.
5.35 Particular areas of interest for the Board included the use of Speed Indicator Devices,
pro-laser devices and tackling poor parking.
5.36 The visibility of community-based activity was welcomed by members as deterring
dangerous behaviour, reducing risk at community-identified locations and improving
community perceptions of road safety.
5.37 Members queried, however, how data was collected from SIDs and how that could be
better used to determine where, when and how intervention is directed.
5.38 WYP representatives reiterated that any community-led activity should be risk assessed
and appropriate to the locations in question. It was noted that here had been instances of
members of the public becoming aggressive in response to speed deterrents, particularly
in some urban locations.
5.39 The challenge for all stakeholders of resourcing some of these community exercises,
including providing training to officers to support communities, was explored. West
Yorkshire Police described “hard decisions” being required to determine where resources
are directed.
5.40 Current frustration with legislation in relation to the misuse of handheld devices was
outlined. The Board was informed that current requirements for the police to demonstrate

13
Page 72

Part Two
a smartphone has been used for “interactive telecommunications” limit the success of
enforcement where a driver has a device in their hand at the wheel.
5.41 This had also caused public frustration as evidence provided via Operation SNAP of
drivers using devices at the wheel is not enough in itself to result in the six penalty points
that could be issued if a driver was proved to be sending a text message or making a
phone call.
5.42 The Board agreed that a recommendation of the inquiry should reflect the need for
legislation to be updated given the extent to which technology has developed since the
original text was drafted.
5.43 It was further recommended that manufacturers and re-sellers should be required to
demonstrate to consumers how a smartphone can be set up to only allow handsfree calls
while driving.
5.44 The urgency of encouraging wider behaviour change in society was highlighted by the
fact that technology does already exist to tackle some of the causes of collisions through
“in car enforcement.”
5.45 The use of speed limiting technology could be introduced immediately in many vehicles
but requires public acceptance that personal freedom to exceed regulations would be
automatically curtailed to prevent road deaths and injury.

Community Engagement
5.46 The Board considered the concept of shared responsibility, as set out in the Vision Zero
approach, in relation to prevention and enforcement activity in local communities.
Members explored a perception from communities that speeding restrictions, for
example, are “often not enforced” and a fear of dangerous behaviour involving quad bikes
and two wheeled vehicles.
5.47 However, it was also acknowledged that in instances where resources allowed
enforcement to take place this in itself was addressing the symptom of such behaviour
rather than the cause.
5.48 All partners advocated listening much more closely to communities about their concerns.
It was agreed communities can provide valuable information about locations considered
to be high risk or where intervention is needed to tackle patterns of dangerous behaviour.
It was proposed that Community Committees could play an important part in identifying
some of the locations of concern in their respective areas.

14
Page 73

Part Two
5.49 The Board also considered the way in which community knowledge of behaviour and risk
could inform the detail of new planning applications. It was suggested that community
intelligence could strengthen the work of highways and planning officers, as they seek to
secure funding through the planning process for works to alleviate the anticipated
adverse impact of development on local transport networks.
5.50 A successful preventative approach to road safety at a local level would rely upon a
greater sense of shared responsibility from all stakeholders. The Board agreed that part
of the solution would be improved communication between local organisations, public
service providers, members of the public, businesses and enforcement agencies.
5.51 Members reflected upon the successful multi-agency approach to tackling anti-social
behaviour and recommended that a similar approach be explored in relation to road
safety concerns within communities.

Language
5.52 One of the most prominent messages from road safety campaigners represented at the
meeting was that the language used to discuss road safety is extremely important to
victims.
5.53 The Board endorsed a recommendation that the adoption of a new approach to casualty
prevention should involve a move away from traditional terminology that has sometimes
reinforced a sense that there is a degree of inevitability in the case of some collisions.
5.54 Examples discussed included “casualty reduction targets,” which inadvertently implies an
acceptable level of road death or injury. Equally, the use of “accident” was highlighted as
obscuring the cause of collisions – all of which are deemed preventable under a Vision
Zero approach.
5.55 Reference to victims is often absent from traditional policy documents about road safety
and the Board agreed they should be explicitly central to any strategy relating to road
safety.
5.56 The low-profile of victims within the national road safety debate was further illustrated by
the poverty of resources allocated to support those dealing with the consequences of
road traffic collisions.
5.57 The Board was updated on lobbying that successfully prevented the withdrawal of a grant
for victims by the Ministry of Justice. Under the Department for Transport this funding has
since been retained but remains – in the words of one attendee – “scandalously low.”

15
Page 74

Part Two
Nationally it was argued victims should also be central to the resourcing debate that runs
alongside decision making about road safety.

Engineering
5.58 New ways of evaluating sites where road safety issues have been identified were
discussed. It was noted that the new evaluation process aims to better assess the
underlying causes of road causalities and to identify the most appropriate intervention.
5.59 The evaluation analyses injury collisions and assesses the deliverability and value for
money of preventing road casualties through physical intervention.
5.60 Members welcomed the accelerated roll out of 20mph speed limits across the city and the
benefits communities have seen in terms of increased road safety and active travel. The
principle of school streets was also welcomed and, while members recognised some
localised challenges, the outcome of the evaluation of the use of temporary traffic orders
to restrict traffic movement around schools at the start and end of the school day was
anticipated with interest.

Pedestrian Crossings & School Crossing patrols
5.61 Members of the Board welcomed the introduction of technology at traffic-controlled
crossings that is more responsive to pedestrian demand. It was agreed this is in line with
wider aspirations for increased active travel and improved health and well-being.
5.62 An improved perception of safety was regarded as a significant factor in increasing public
confidence to cycle and walk, particularly for children. The Scrutiny Board requested that
a review of accident statistics at pedestrian crossings be carried out once new technology
has been installed, and that the results of that review be provided to the Scrutiny Board.
5.63 Members considered the process for assessing applications for school crossing patrols,
noting that the Council applies criteria in line with national policy. It was recommended
that School Crossing Patrol Team should work more closely with the Influencing Travel
Behaviour Team to consider ways in which additional support could be provided to
schools where an application for a school crossing patrol is unsuccessful.
5.64 Members also recommended that officers consider how to increase the visibility of
information on the Council’s website about the process to apply for a school crossing
patrol and how to pay for that service if the application is unsuccessful.

16
Page 75

Part Two
Education, Engagement and Communication
5.65 The Board welcomed a review of the education provision for children and young people in
relation to road safety and noted the influence young people can have on their wider
families in terms of behavioural change.
5.66 Concern was expressed about low take up of road safety training in schools in some
areas of the city and all stakeholders reiterated the importance of starting this work from a
young age.
5.67 The importance of using age-appropriate language and messaging was discussed,
particularly with regard to successfully targeting teenagers as they begin to drive. One
campaigner talked about asking young people to “take just five minutes” to consider
whether they get in a car as a driver or passenger, and what the consequences of doing
so might be.
5.68 Campaigners underlined the danger in giving young people rapid access to what are
increasingly powerful vehicles without ongoing education, monitoring and skills-based
support.
5.69 The Board reflected on the profound impact of hearing from victims and their families
about the experience and consequences of road traffic collisions. Members
recommended that officers consider how such experiences could be more effectively
emphasised within programmes of education, engagement and communication.
5.70 Council officers were further asked to consider how they could extend the programme of
education to specifically reach more young people who may be new to driving – for
example, by engaging further education institutions.
5.71 The Board considered other ways to target road safety messages at drivers. It was
suggested that existing resources such as Variable Message Signs on the Leeds road
network could be better used to promote road safety messages around the ‘five threats’
identified by WYP. The Board was informed that VMS Boards are being updated, which
should offer greater flexibility in future.
5.72 The benefits of supplementing education with additional training, such as advanced
driving courses, and support for new drivers was debated. The Board considered the
merits of graduated licences and were supportive in principle of new drivers gaining
experience of the roads over a set period of time to develop their skills and knowledge.

17
Page 76

Part Two
5.73 The Board was supportive of lobbying government to reconsider the introduction of
graduated licences in the UK, as has been the case in several other countries including
Ireland, Australia and New Zealand.
5.74 The Board debated whether an equivalent to the speed awareness course could be
introduced for other offences to help educate people about the potential impact of their
behaviour.

Public Accountability & Transparency
5.75 Earlier sections of this report touch upon the importance of clear and accountable political
leadership on road safety. With the pandemic providing an opportunity for a fresh
approach, the Board was urged to ensure there is clear leadership amongst decision
makers so that existing data and evidence can be acted upon, the impact of resources
maximised and examples of best practice effectively shared.
5.76 There was no doubt amongst stakeholders that at a localised level within individual
communities road safety is often identified as a high priority. However, it was put to the
Board that it is also difficult for citizens to understand how multiple layers of legislation
and strategy across different partner organisations translate into activity on road safety.
5.77 Following the introduction of a West Yorkshire Mayor, it is hoped there will also be a more
obvious public focal point for this agenda at a regional level. However, members were
keen to explore how road safety might achieve greater traction in national public debate.
Members questioned whether explicitly presenting road safety as primarily a public health
issue would be one way of achieving that aim.
5.78 Campaigners reiterated the need for transparent data and publicly available timescales,
so as to allow citizens to understand the performance of local and regional partners in
progressing Vision Zero. It was therefore recommended that local data should be
published and updated on Data Mill North, with members of the public signposted to this
site as required.
5.79 For their part the Scrutiny Board agreed future monitoring of performance in relation to
Vision Zero should be built into ongoing work programming, so as to enable members to
understand progress, challenges and opportunities within this agenda.

18
Page 77

Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure, Investment & Inclusive Growth)
Preventing Road Deaths and Injuries on Leeds Roads
April 2022
Report author: Rebecca Atherton

Page 78

Action and Delivery Plan

Page 79

Action

Frequency

Timeframe

Lead
organisation

Metrics

Number of
meetings

DAT1

Revise casualty data in line with
the DfT’s adjustments and use
full adjusted 5-year data set when
available.

As available

Ongoing

LCC

Quarterly
crash data
report

DAT2

Carry out in-depth analysis of data
to understand who is causing the
harm, the factors contributing to KSI
collisions and to identify emerging
issues that cause death and serious
injury on our roads.

Quarterly

Commence
2022

LCC

Quarterly
report

DAT3

Monitor emergence of casualties
on different types of bike (including
e-bikes), e-scooters, quad bikes etc

As available

Commence
2022

LCC

Quarterly
report

DAT4

Compile list of potential sources
of further data and review as they
emerge.

Ongoing

Short-term

LSRP

Delivery of
programme

COM1

Develop a workshop for media
professionals on how to best
communicate about collisions.

Annually

Commence
2022

LSRP

Delivery of
programme

COM2

Provide communications outlining
important updates to the Highway
Code.

As required

Ongoing

LSTP

Proportion of
updates communicated

COM3

Deliver local, regional and national
events and campaigns throughout the
year.

As they
occur

Ongoing

LSRP

No of people
reached

COM4

Work closely with West Yorkshire
Police to communicate any changes to
mobile phone legislation and support
their commitment to enforcing this.

As required

Ongoing

COM5

Communicate the outcomes of police
operations to raise awareness and
deter dangerous driving behaviours.

As they
occur

Ongoing

VZ1

Annually

Report on our progress to the
council’s Infrastructure, Investment
and Inclusive Growth Scrutiny Board.

Annually

Hold meetings of the Leeds Safer
Roads Partnership and regularly
review membership.

Every 6
weeks

Set up a Vision Zero expert panel
to share information, guide the
development of the strategy and
action plan.

Meetings
held as
required

Commence
2022

LSRP

VZ6

Update the Vision Zero 2040 Action/
Delivery Plan biennially with a short,
medium, long term prioritised
programme of actions and works.

Every 2
years

2024

LSRP

Delivery of
updated plan

VZ7

Develop Vision Zero kitemark or
programme to recognise best
practice in safe behaviours and
design.

LSRP

Delivery of
programme

VZ8

Identify local and regional
organisations to engage with,
including road users who are more
vulnerable to traffic injury, drivers
and people, ensuring diversity and
equality in our approach.

VZ5

VZ9

96

Ref

Publish an annual report to the Chief
Officer, Highways and Transportation
to record progress against the actions
and measures to Chief Officer of
Highways and Transportation.

VZ3

Launch a Leeds Safer Roads website
to outline responsibilities for
addressing road danger in Leeds,
share headline CRaSH data and
provide a facility for people to
suggest road safety improvements.

Timeframe

Metrics

Action

VZ2

Frequency

Lead
organisation

Ref

Circa January

n/a

Ongoing

n/a

(to allow full
dataset for
previous year)

LCC

Date set by
Board

LCC

Ongoing

LCC

2023

Commence
2022

Commence
2022

Deliver 2023

LSRP

LCC

Action/
delivery plan
progress
Action/
delivery plan
progress
Number of
meetings

Number of
meetings

Number
of new
partnerships

Delivery of
website

Number of
visits

Deliver 2023

LCC

WYP

LSRP

No of people
reached

Number
of people
reached

97

Ref

Action

COM6

Encourage all road users to make
use of Operation SNAP to report
dangerous driving.

Timeframe

Ongoing

Commence
2022

Lead
organisation

LCC

WYP

Metrics
Number of
reports

Number of
prosecutions

COM7

Promote awareness of consultations
and changes to regulations or
standards to partners and relevant
organisations within Leeds.

As they
occur

Ongoing

LSRP

Number of
partners /
organisations
shared with
and response
rate

COM8

Explore and use new ways to reach
road users to engage with and
communicate safe and sustainable
travel messaging

Ongoing

Commence
2022

LCC

Number
of people
reached

BEH1

Develop data-led interventions,
education, communications and
campaigns aimed at changing
dangerous road user behaviours and
supporting vulnerable road users

Quarterly

Ongoing

LCC

Quarterly
reports

BEH2

Page 80
BEH3

BEH4

Develop and deliver data-led police
operations to tackle speeding,
dangerous driving behaviour, antisocial vehicle behaviour and stolen
vehicle offences.

As required

Work with partners such as Public
Health, to support groups most at risk
from dangerous driving offences, for
example – drug and alcohol addiction
services.

Every 6
months

Promote alternatives to driving,
such as taxis, rideshare services,
designated drivers, and public
transport and explore new ways to
spread the message.

BEH5

Carry out research and identify ways
to support safe and active travel for
all vulnerable road users in Leeds

BEH6

Deliver ‘Close Pass’ initiatives with
WYP targeting drivers passing horses
and cyclists.

BEH7

98

Frequency

Work with partners in health, schools,
nurseries, children’s centres to
educate staff and communities about
child car seat legislation (including
car-seat fitting sessions).

Short-medium
term

Short-medium
term

LSRP

LSRP

Ref

Action

Frequency

Timeframe

Lead
organisation

Metrics

BEH8

Identify health professionals and
support organisations to prevent
deaths and injuries on our roads from
self-harm.

Annually

Short-medium
term

LCC

No of people
reached

BEH9

West Yorkshire Police will continue
to address the issue of road death
and injury resulting from people
driving stolen vehicles and hit and run
crashes through coordinated efforts,
with the support where appropriate
of other partners.

Ongoing

Ongoing

WYP

TBC

BEH10

Apply for and use powers under Part
6 of the Traffic Management Act 2004
to enforce moving traffic offences
once the powers are available.

As available

Expected
2022

LCC

Number of
prosecutions

BEH11

Meet regularly with the British Horse
Society and other rider organisations
to identify ways to reduce risks
and hazards, expand delivery
of education, interventions and
campaigns.

Every 6
months

Commence
2022

LSRP

Number of
meetings

BEH12

Meet regularly with the Motorcycle
Action Group other rider
organisations to identify ways to
reduce risks and hazards, deliver
education and awareness-raising
activities.

Every 6
months

Commence
2022

LSRP

Number of
meetings

Operations
delivered

Number of
prosecutions

Number
of people
reached

Regularly review and coordinate
delivery of road safety education and
training for delivery to a range of
audiences and settings.

Every 2
years

2022

LSRP

EDU2

Work in partnership with Leeds
Children and Families directorate to
identify ways to integrate safe and
sustainable travel training into the
curriculum.

Every 6
months

Commence
2022

LSRP

SPD1

Continue to assess sites and submit
locations for new safety cameras
to the West Yorkshire Casualty
Prevention Partnership.

Ongoing

Ongoing

SPD2

Identify and assess new locations for
mobile speed cameras for approval
by the West Yorkshire Casualty
Prevention Partnership.

Ongoing

Ongoing

EDU1
Ongoing

Ongoing

Annually

Commence
2023

As available

Spring/
summer

Annually

2022

LCC

No of people
reached

LCC

WYP

LSRP

No of
operations
delivered
Number
of sessions
delivered
Number
of people
reached

Number
of sessions
delivered
Number
of people
reached

Number of
meetings

Number of
requests

LCC

Number of
new sites
approved for
installation

LCC

Number of
requests

WYCPP

WYCPP

99

Ref

Action

SPD3

Work with West Yorkshire Casualty
Prevention Partnership to consider
installing average speed cameras.

Ongoing

SPD4

Continue to respond to requests for
reviews of speed limits and signpost
people to the process.

SPD5

Respond to DfT consultation or
updates to the criteria for camera
placement and work with the West
Yorkshire Casualty Prevention
Partnership accordingly.

As required

Continue to progress with works to
reduce mean speeds at 20mph sites.

Ongoing

SPD6

Page 81

SPD7

Update the citywide review of speed
limits every five years.

SPD8

Respond to requests to install/
maintain speed limit repeater signs to
remind drivers about the speed limit
in accordance with DfT guidance.

SPD9

Identify, consider and implement new
solutions to speed compliance and
build partnerships with experts in this
field.

SPD10

Review and relaunch the community
speed awareness scheme and prepare
a community guide about how to
deal with local speed problems and
information about SID machines.

SPD11

Identify ways to work closely with the
community through neighbourhood
police teams and local councillors to
understand where speeding occurs.

SPD12

100

Frequency

Consider the introduction of
technology in partnership fleets to
encourage greater speed compliance.

Ongoing

Every 5
years

Ongoing

As available

Timeframe

Ongoing

Ongoing

As required

Ongoing

2023

Ongoing

Ongoing

Every 2
years

2022

Ongoing

Commence
2022

Annually

2023

Lead
organisation

Ref

Action

Frequency

Timeframe

Lead
organisation

Metrics

RDS1

Continue to deliver and develop
the annual Casualty Prevention
Programme.

Annually

Ongoing

LCC

Number of
sites

RDS2

Continue to develop and deliver
the annual pedestrian crossing
programme and signpost people
about how to make requests.

Annually

Ongoing

LCC

Number of
sites

RDS3

Install technology at signalised
crossings to support pedestrians.

Ongoing

Ongoing

LCC

Number of
sites

RDS4

Research and trial technology/new
methods of predicting and preventing
collisions on our roads and feed
outcomes into relevant programmes
for casualty prevention.

As available

Ongoing

LSRP

Number of
programmes/
trials
participated
in

RDS5

Develop the network of VMS signs
and display messages about road
safety.

Annually

Ongoing

LCC

Number of
sites

RDS6

Identify locations for School Streets,
active travel neighbourhoods and
other interventions to engender safe
and sustainable travel and mode shift

Ongoing

Ongoing

LCC

Number of
sites

VEH1

Identify effective ways to
communicate safe vehicle messages
to professional drivers and fleet
operators.

Annually

Ongoing

LSRP

No of people
reached

VEH2

Hold events as part of national
awareness campaigns to remind
drivers to check the roadworthiness of
vehicles and encourage organisations
with fleet to hold regular events to
promote safe vehicles.

Annually

Ongoing

LSRP

No of people
reached

LSRP

Delivery of
programme

VEH3

Develop links with DVSA to work
in partnership to improve safety
standards for goods vehicles.

Annually

2022

LSRP

Partnership
set up

VEH4

National Highways will develop
data-led vehicle safety enforcement
and compliance checks.

Ongoing

Ongoing

LSRP

Proportion
of fleet with
speed limiting
technology

VEH5

Include vehicle specifications/trial
technology that promotes safe
driving, protects occupants inside
the vehicle and reduces the severity
of impact on road users outside the
vehicle.

Ongoing

2023

LSRP

Proportion
of vehicles
with safety
technology

VEH6

Request that WYCA consider the
introduction of a bus safety standard
to ensure that the safest buses are
driven throughout the district and to
reduce casualties on PSVs.

2022

2023

LSRP

Meetings
held

LCC

WYCPP

LCC

LSRP

LCC

LCC

LCC

LSRP

LSRP

Metrics
Number of
new sites
approved for
installation
Number of
requests
received and
responded to

Changes
to national
policy

Proportion of
programme
delivered
Updated
programme

Delivery of
programme

Delivery of
programme

Delivery of
programme
Number
of people
reached

SPD13

Use automatic count data to measure
impact of speed reduction measures
on our roads.

Quarterly

Commence
2022

LCC

Speed
compliance
on local roads

SPD14

Promote speed awareness courses to
organisations and key target groups.

As available

2023

LCC

No of people
reached

NH

WYP

No of
operations

101

Ref

Action

VEH7

Work in partnership taxi and private
hire drivers to trial technology in
vehicles that protects drivers and
other road users.

As available

Work with driving instructors and
insurance companies to help spread
the word among younger drivers
about technology such as ‘black
boxes’.

Annually

Respond to consultations relating to
improvements in vehicle standards
and legislation either individually or as
a partnership.

As
published

PCR1

Emergency services continually to
identify ways to improve the response
time to road collisions to minimise the
time between the collision and the
provision of care.

As
required by
governing
bodies

PCR2

Signpost support services for
post-collision care to victims and
their families and raise awareness
of support services available to
emergency services staff who
respond to road collisions.

Ongoing

PCR3

Review our approach to collision
investigation to incorporate best
practice and to understand the causes
and contributing factors better.

Every 2
years

PCR4

Work with the Coroner for Leeds to
identify ways to share data quickly to
reduce delays in the investigation.

PCR5

Collate, implement and action the
recommendations of the post-collision
investigation reports from the police,
coroner and Child Death Overview
Panel.

Ongoing

PCR6

In a trauma-informed way, draw
on the experiences of victims and
their families and all others affected
to support behaviour change and
post-collision learning and consider
how these might support wider
communications plan and education.

Every 2
years

PCR7

Meet regularly with road crash
charities organisations that help
victims and those affected.

Every 6
months

VEH8

VEH9

Page 82
102

Frequency

Ongoing

Lead
organisation

Metrics

2024

LSRP

Proportion
of vehicles
with safety
technology

2023

LSRP

Delivery of
programme

Timeframe

Ongoing

LSRP

WYP,
WYFS, YAS

Average
response
times

LSRP

Estimated
number
of people
reached

2023

LCC, WYP

Proportion of
recommendations implemented

Immediately

LSRP,
Coroner

Proportion of
recommendations implemented

LCC

Proportion of
recommendations implemented

LSRP

Estimated
number
of people
reached

LSRP

Estimated
number
of people
reached

Ongoing

2022

Immediately

2022

2022

Metrics

2022

LCC, WYSR

Amount of
funding made
available
Number of
applications

As required

Ongoing

LSRP

Change to
national
policy

As required

Ongoing

LSRP

Preparation
of a response

Action

PCR8

Explore funding opportunities
to make a financial commitment
to support post-collision care for
victims and all those affected in West
Yorkshire including grant-funding
opportunities to carry out research.

Ongoing

PCR9

Consider whether to lobby either for a
National Road Victims’ Commissioner
with a focus on road danger or an
increase in the powers of the current
Victims’ Commissioner.

PCR10

Advocate for the inclusion of invehicle and other technology, better
drug-testing and stricter drink-driving
laws to help bring justice for victims
of road collisions

Number of
consultations

Proportion
responded to

Lead
organisation

Ref

Frequency

Timeframe

103

Acronyms
ANPR

ASB

Anti-social Behaviour

ATN

Active-travel Neighbourhoods

AUAG
BASICS

Page 83

CBT

CDOP
CEL
CLOCS

CPS

British Association for Immediate
Care
Compulsory Basic Training (for
PTW riders)
Child Death Overview Panel
Civic Enterprise Leeds
Construction Logistics and
Community Safety
Crown Prosecution Service
Collision Reporting and Sharing
System

CRSTS

City Region Sustainable
Transport Settlement

DVSA

FORS

GDPR

HART
HGV

Access User Ability Group

CRaSH

DfT

104

Automatic Number Plate
Recognition

Fleet Operator Recognition
Scheme

Hazardous Area Response Team
Heavy Goods Vehicle – goods
vehicle with a gross vehicle
weight of over 3.5 tonnes

MAG
MCET
NDORS

NPCC

Motorcycle Action Group

SCP

School crossing patrol

Major Collisions Enquiry Team

SID

Speed Indicator Device

National Driver Offender
Retraining Scheme
National Police Chiefs Council

ITB

Influencing Travel Behaviour

NPTs

Neighbourhood Policing Teams

ITS

Leeds Institute of Transport
Studies

NRVS

National Road Victims Service

KSI

Killed or Seriously Injured

LASBT

LCC
LCWIP

LGV

LPTIP

Department for Transport
Driver and Vehicle Standards
Agency

General Data Protection
Regulation

Leeds Anti-Social Behaviour
Team
Leeds City Council
Local Cycling and Walking
Infrastructure Plan
Light Goods Vehicle – a
commercial motor vehicle with
a gross weight of 3.5 tonnes or
less
Leeds Public Transport
Investment Programme

LTN

Low Traffic Neighbourhoods

LTP

Local Transport Plan

LSRP

Leeds Safer Roads Partnership

NYSRP

North Yorkshire Safer Roads
Partnership

PACTS

Parliamentary Advisory Council
for Transport Safety

PCSO

Police Community Support
Officer

PFD

Preventing Future Death (report)

PSV

Public service vehicle

PTW
RoSPA

RPU
RTC
SCARD

Powered Two Wheelers
Royal Society for the Prevention
of Accidents
Roads Policing Unit
Road Traffic Collision
Support and Care After Road
Death and Injury

SPARC

Supporting Police Action to
Reduce Road Casualties

SRN

Strategic Road Network

STORM

System for Tasking and
Operational Resource
Management

SUDIC

TCF
TPHL

Sudden Unexpected Death in
Childhood
Transforming Cities Fund
Taxi and Private Hire Licensing

VMS

Variable Message Sign

VRU

Vulnerable road user

WYCA

WYFRS

WYP

West Yorkshire Combined
Authority
West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue
Service
West Yorkshire Police

WYSR/P

West Yorkshire Safer Roads /
Partnership

YAS

Yorkshire Ambulance Service
NHS Trust

105

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
Report author: Rebecca Atherton
Tel: 0113 378 8642

Work Schedule
Date: 13 July 2022
Report of: Head of Democratic Services
Report to: Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure, Investment & Inclusive Growth)
Will the decision be open for call in?

☐ Yes ☒ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐ Yes ☒ No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions



All Scrutiny Boards are required to determine and manage their own work schedule for the
municipal year. In doing so, the work schedule should not be considered a fixed and rigid
schedule, it should be recognised as a document that can be adapted and changed to
reflect any new and emerging issues throughout the year; and also reflect any timetable
issues that might occur from time to time.



The Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules also state that, where appropriate, all terms of
reference for work undertaken by Scrutiny Boards will include ‘ to review how and to what
effect consideration has been given to the impact of a service or policy on all equality areas,
as set out in the Council’s Equality and Diversity Scheme’.



Reflecting on the information in this report alongside information presented as part of other
agenda items at today’s meeting, Members are requested to consider and discuss the
Board’s work schedule for this municipal year.

Recommendations
Members are requested to consider and discuss the Scrutiny Board’s work schedule for the
2022/23 municipal year.
Why is the proposal being put forward?
1. A draft work schedule for the Infrastructure, Investment & Inclusive Growth Scrutiny Board
is presented at Appendix 1 for consideration and discussion. Reflected in the work
schedule are known items of scrutiny activity, including performance and budget
monitoring, identified Budget and Policy Framework items and recommendation tracking.
2. The latest Executive Board minutes from the meeting held on 22 June 2022 are also
attached as Appendix 2. The Scrutiny Board is asked to consider and note the Executive
Board minutes, insofar as they relate to the remit of the Scrutiny Board; and consider any
matter where specific scrutiny activity may also be warranted.
Page 85

What impact will this proposal have?
Wards affected: All
Have ward members been consulted?

☐ Yes

☐No

3. All Scrutiny Boards are required to determine and manage their own work schedule for the
municipal year.
4. The draft work schedule is reflective of the views of the former Infrastructure, Investment
and Inclusive Growth Scrutiny Board.
What consultation and engagement has taken place?
5. To enable Scrutiny to focus on strategic areas of priority, it is recognised that each
Scrutiny Board needs to maintain dialogue with the Directors and Executive Board
Members holding the relevant portfolios. The Vision for Scrutiny also states that Scrutiny
Boards should seek the advice of the Scrutiny officer, the relevant Director and Executive
Member about available resources prior to agreeing items of work.
What are the resource implications?
6. Experience has shown that the Scrutiny process is more effective and adds greater value if
the Board seeks to minimise the number of substantial inquiries running at one time and
focus its resources on one key issue at a time.
7. The Vision for Scrutiny, agreed by full Council also recognises that like all other Council
functions, resources to support the Scrutiny function are under considerable pressure and
that requests from Scrutiny Boards cannot always be met.
8. Consequently, when establishing their work programmes Scrutiny Boards should:
 Seek the advice of the Scrutiny officer, the relevant Director and Executive Member
about available resources;
 Avoid duplication by having a full appreciation of any existing forums already having
oversight of, or monitoring a particular issue;
 Ensure any Scrutiny undertaken has clarity and focus of purpose and will add value and
can be delivered within an agreed time frame.
What are the legal implications?
9. This report has no specific legal implications.
What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
10. There are no risk management implications relevant to this report.
Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars?
☒ Inclusive Growth

☒ Health and Wellbeing
Page 86

☒ Climate Emergency

11. The terms of reference of the Scrutiny Boards promote a strategic and outward looking
Scrutiny function that focuses on the best council objectives.
Appendices
12. Appendix 1 – Draft work schedule of the Infrastructure, Investment & Inclusive Growth
Scrutiny Board for the 2022/23 municipal year.
13. Appendix 2 – Draft minutes of the Executive Board meeting held on 22 June 2022.
Background papers
14. None.

Page 87

This page is intentionally left blank

Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure, Investment and Inclusive Growth)
Work Schedule for 2022/23 Municipal Year

June
Agenda for Wednesday 15 June 10.30am

July

August

Agenda for Wednesday 13 July 10.00 am.

No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled.

Page 89

Performance report

Green Economy (Scoping - Inclusive Growth)

Flood Risk Management – Cllr Illingworth
request for scrutiny

IDS update via LT, to update the Board on
the work previously badged as “Smart Cities”

Annual reports:
- Sources of Work
- Terms of Reference
- Co-opted members

Prevention of Deaths and Serious Injury on our
Roads Inquiry – Formal Approval & Response

Working Group Meetings

Site Visits

Scrutiny Work Items Key:
PSR
Policy/Service Review
PDS
Pre-decision Scrutiny

RT
PM

Recommendation Tracking
Performance Monitoring

DB
C

Inclusive Growth Strategy
PEOPLE, PLACE and PRODUCTIVITY - Relevant BIG Ideas 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10

Development Briefings
Consultation Response

Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure, Investment and Inclusive Growth)
Work Schedule for 2022/23 Municipal Year
September

October

November

Agenda for Wednesday 28 September 10.30am.

No meeting

Agenda for Wednesday 2 November 10.30am

Advancing Bus Service Provision
Future Talent Review
LPTIP Closure report [may be deferred]
Leeds Station Sustainable Travel Gateway
Scheme [tbc]
Page 90
Site Visits

Scrutiny Work Items Key:
PSR
Policy/Service Review
PDS
Pre-decision Scrutiny

RT
PM

Recommendation Tracking
Performance Monitoring

DB
C

Inclusive Growth Strategy
PEOPLE, PLACE and PRODUCTIVITY - Relevant BIG Ideas 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10

Development Briefings
Consultation Response

Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure, Investment and Inclusive Growth)
Work Schedule for 2022/23 Municipal Year
December

January

February

Agenda for Thursday 8 December at 10.30am

Agenda for Wednesday 11 January 10.30 am.

No meetings

Performance Monitoring
Connecting Leeds Transport Strategy Annual
Update

Financial Health Monitoring

Planning Bill impact update

Initial Budget Proposals

Page 91
Working Group Meetings

Site Visits

Scrutiny Work Items Key:
PSR
Policy/Service Review
PDS
Pre-decision Scrutiny

RT
PM

Recommendation Tracking
Performance Monitoring

DB
C

Inclusive Growth Strategy
PEOPLE, PLACE and PRODUCTIVITY - Relevant BIG Ideas 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10

Development Briefings
Consultation Response

Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure, Investment and Inclusive Growth)
Work Schedule for 2022/23 Municipal Year
March

April

Notes

Agenda for Wednesday 1 March at 10.30am

Agenda for Wednesday 5 April at 10.30am

Inclusive Growth update

100% Digital

Items raised by members yet to be scheduled:

Flood Risk Management

Vision Zero Update

Integrated Rail Plan for the North and
Midlands – implications for Leeds

Housing Mix Update
Green Economy – (part two)
Detailed draft – Delivery Partnership Plan
Page 92

Inclusive Growth & inequalities in the context
of the pandemic response & recovery

Working Group Meetings

Site Visits

Scrutiny Work Items Key:
PSR
Policy/Service Review
PDS
Pre-decision Scrutiny

RT
PM

Recommendation Tracking
Performance Monitoring

DB
C

Inclusive Growth Strategy
PEOPLE, PLACE and PRODUCTIVITY - Relevant BIG Ideas 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10

Development Briefings
Consultation Response

EXECUTIVE BOARD
WEDNESDAY, 22ND JUNE, 2022
PRESENT:

Councillor J Lewis in the Chair
Councillors S Arif, A Carter, D Coupar,
S Golton, M Harland, H Hayden, J Pryor,
M Rafique and F Venner

1

Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public
There was no information contained within the agenda which was designated
as being exempt from publication.

2

Late Items
There were no late items of business submitted to the Board for
consideration.

3

Declaration of Interests
There were no interests declared at the meeting.

4

Minutes
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 20th April
2022 be approved as a correct record.
ECONOMY, CULTURE AND EDUCATION

5

Outcome of the statutory notice on a proposal to decommission the
Resource Provision at Gledhow Primary School
Further to Minute No. 131, 16 March 2022, the Director of Children and
Families submitted a report presenting the outcomes from the publication of a
statutory notice on a proposal to decommission the Speech and Language
Resource Provision at Gledhow Primary School with effect from August 2022.
Specifically, the report invited the Board to review the outcome of the statutory
notice and approve the proposal to decommission the Resource Provision
from end of the 2021/22 academic year.
In introducing the report, the Executive Member presented the key points of
this proposal, and noted that there had been no responses received
throughout the statutory notice period.
A Member made enquiries regarding the proposal when considering the wider
provision of, and demand for speech and language services across the city
moving forward. In response, the Board was provided with further detail on
the actions which had been taken when drawing up the proposals, such as
the associated consultation exercise and the work undertaken which had
identified that the proposals would be better suited to providing good
outcomes for the young people using the service. Also, it was noted that there
was confidence that the new model would deliver sufficient provision in the
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2022

Page 93

city. Responding to a further enquiry on sufficiency of provision, officers
undertook to liaise with health colleagues to provide the Member in question
with further detail on this.
In agreeing the proposals detailed within the submitted report, Councillor A
Carter reiterated the comments that he had made during the consideration of
this item regarding sufficiency of service provision.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the outcomes from the statutory notice, be noted, and that the
proposal to decommission the Resource Provision from the end of the
academic year 2021/22, as detailed within the report, be approved;
(b)

6

That it be noted that the responsible officer for the implementation of
such matters is the Head of Learning Inclusion.

The New Discretionary Business Rate Relief Scheme
Further to Minute No. 19, 22 June 2016, the Director of Resources and the
Director of City Development submitted a joint report regarding the review of
the Discretionary Business Rates Relief policy which had been undertaken,
and which presented proposals for a new scheme for the Board’s
consideration, which aimed to support the creation, retention and
improvement of employment delivering inclusive growth in the city.
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board received further detail
regarding the proposal to cap the total scheme value at £1.75m, which it was
noted was a cap level that had been carried over from the previously agreed
scheme. In addition, responding to a specific enquiry, clarification was
provided that whilst the Council’s Community Centres were charged Business
Rates, the Council did not apply for those centres to be part of the Business
Rates Relief scheme.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the policy for the new Discretionary Business Rates Relief
Scheme, as detailed within the submitted report, be approved;
(b)

7

That the decision to award discretionary business rate relief be
delegated to the Director of City Development, together with authority
to make any minor alterations to the approved scheme.

Securing the proposed new public artwork in memory of David Oluwale
and for the City of Leeds, and Authority to enter into an Agreement with
Leeds Culture Trust
The Director of City Development submitted a report which provided
information on the collaborative work being undertaken to establish a new
landmark public art commission for Leeds designed to commemorate the life
of David Oluwale and to also provide representation and aspiration to the
community he came from. The report sought approval regarding related
expenditure, and also sought authority to enter into an agreement with Leeds
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2022

Page 94

Culture Trust to set out the respective obligations between the parties with
regard to delivering the project.
Responding to Members’ enquiries, assurance was provided on the actions
which were being taken to ensure that the Council was fully supporting Leeds
2023’s fundraising strategy for the initiative and that Board Members would
receive regular updates as appropriate in relation to this project and its
financial position. In addition, it was noted that the £1.83m would be included
within the overall fundraising aspirations of Leeds 2023 in the delivery of the
year of culture, and during the year this project would be one of signature
events.
RESOLVED –
(a) That approval be given to Leeds City Council front funding the cost of
the project, as detailed within the submitted report, up to £1.83m, to
be held against the Capital Programme contingency reserve, with the
amount being held against the reserve being reduced as the
fundraising progresses;
(b) That the authority required to enter into an agreement with Leeds
Culture Trust in order to set out the respective obligations between
the parties with regard to delivering the project, be approved;
(c) That Board Members receive regular updates, as appropriate, in
relation to this project and its financial position.
INFRASTRUCTURE AND CLIMATE
8

Submission of Round 2 Levelling Up Fund (LUF) Bids
Further to Minute No. 138, 20th April 2022, the Director of City Development
submitted a report which provided an update on the current position regarding
the Round 2 of the Levelling Up Fund (LUF). In addition, the report also
sought approval of the submission of the proposed bids, and also sought
approval of related expenditure, as detailed.
In introducing the report, the Executive Member provided an overview of the
actions taken to date which had led to the proposed round 2 LUF bids, as
detailed within the submitted report. The Executive Member thanked those
officers who had progressed the proposed submissions to this stage in what
had been a limited timeframe.
Members noted the approach which had been taken towards the bids in terms
of the number of bids proposed and the broad range of projects that they
covered. Responding to a Member’s enquiries both on that approach and
also on whether there was a prioritisation of the bids, it was noted that when
submitted, each bid would be assessed in its own right and whilst the Council
had not been asked to prioritise the bids, should a request be received from
Government in relation to this, it was undertaken that a process would be
established, as appropriate.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2022

Page 95

In conclusion, Members noted the role of the constituency MPs in the
respective bids, the fact that it was unknown whether there would be any
further LUF funding rounds in the future, that Government feedback on LUF
bids whether they be successful or otherwise, would be welcomed, and that
Leeds had been allocated ‘priority status’ for this second round, which had
afforded the Council the opportunity to submit a bid for each constituency.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That agreement be given for the projects as listed in paragraphs 5-10
of the submitted report to be submitted as the Council’s bids under
Round 2 of the Levelling Up Fund, and that the necessary authority be
delegated to the Director of City Development to enable the Director to
undertake the necessary work to finalise and refine the bids in order to
ensure submissions by the deadline of 6th July 2022;
(b)

That agreement be given for the use of the Council’s Capital
Programme contingency funds as a source of match funding to the
LUF bids and/or that agreement be given to use such funds to
underwrite the unknown outcome of other external funding bids relating
to the LUF projects, as set out in paras 24-30 of the submitted report;

(c)

That in the event of bid success, agreement be given for the Director of
City Development to undertake the further work necessary to progress
all required planning and other statutory approvals that will need to be
in place to enable delivery of the LUF-funded projects, in consultation
with the Executive Member for Infrastructure and Climate and the
Executive Member for Public Health and Active Lifestyles, as
appropriate and as relevant in each case;

(d)

That the decisions taken in relation to this report be exempted from the
Call In process, due to the risk that the deadline for bid submission on
the 6th July 2022 is missed, as further detailed in paragraphs 34 – 35
of the submitted report.

(The Council’s Executive and Decision Making Procedure Rules state that a
decision may be declared as being exempt from the Call In process by the
decision taker if it is considered that the matter is urgent and any delay would
seriously prejudice the Council’s, or the public’s interests. In line with this, the
resolutions contained within this minute were exempted from the Call In
process, as per resolution (d) above, and for the reasons as detailed within
sections 34 - 35 of the submitted report)
9

Leeds Station Sustainable Travel Gateway Scheme
Further to Minute No. 80, 17th October 2018, the Director of City Development
submitted a report regarding the Leeds Station Sustainable Travel Gateway
project (LSSTG) which was being delivered as part of the West Yorkshire
Combined Authority (WYCA) Transforming Cities Fund programme. The
LSSTG project, which was a joint undertaking with WYCA and Network Rail
aimed to address issues of capacity, accessibility, health and safety, security
and connectivity from the station’s entrance on New Station Street to the City
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2022

Page 96

Centre and South Bank. Specifically, the report sought required approvals for
an injection into the Capital Programme and associated authority to spend.
In introducing the report, the Executive Member provided an overview of the
development of the scheme to date, what the proposed works entailed, details
of the associated timeframe and gave a brief summary of the consultation
exercise undertaken. Detail was also provided on the latest trends in
passenger numbers accessing the station. The Executive Member also
highlighted that in order to meet the long term needs of Leeds Station it was
proposed by Network Rail to create a pedestrian priority area on New Station
Street which was owned by Network Rail, with it also being noted that the
proposed works would predominately be delivered on Network Rail property
and that Network Rail would manage and maintain the asset when completed.
A Member highlighted concerns from some taxi and private hire trade
representatives and from some representing disability groups on the
proposals which had been brought to his attention. It was noted that such
concerns were specifically regarding disabled accessibility and the relocation
of the taxi rank to Bishopgate Street and the potential for capacity related
issues arising. In response, it was emphasised that whilst the Council would
continue to work with partners on such matters and in acknowledging the
related concerns which had been raised, it was reiterated that New Station
Street was Network Rail property and the security decision to remove vehicles
from New Station Street had been taken by Network Rail.
In relation to the concerns regarding disabled access, the Board received an
overview of the breadth of consultation undertaken, and whilst the concerns
raised as part of that consultation were acknowledged, the level of support
which had been provided was highlighted. In addition, details were provided
on how the proposals aimed to improve accessibility, including disabled
access in the vicinity of the station. Finally, officers undertook to provide the
Member in question with further detail / a briefing around the modelling and
design work that had taken place and which had led to the proposals, should
this be required.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the previous injections and authority to spend of £9.737m up to
the end of May 2022, specifically for development works and advanced
works at Bishopgate East, Neville Street, and Dark Neville Street
ahead of the main construction programme, be noted;
(b)

That the remaining injection of £25.912m from a total of £35.649m
available funding into the Capital Programme be approved (which is
subject to subsequent approval at the West Yorkshire Combined
Authority (WYCA) Transport Committee on 1st July 2022 and entering
into a subsequent Funding Agreement with WYCA); with such funding
delivering the main construction element of Leeds Station Sustainable
Travel Gateway (LSSTG) project;

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2022

Page 97

(c)

That it be noted that approval to enter into the contracts associated
with the delivery of the LSSTG will be subject to the approval of the
Director of City Development, under delegated decision-making
authority;

(d)

That the authority to spend £25.912m on the LSSTG programme in
order to deliver the remaining main construction element of the LSSTG
project, be approved, which will be funded by the Transforming Cities
Fund and administered by WYCA, subject to the WYCA Transport
Committee of 1st July 2022.

(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, Councillor A Carter
required it to be recorded that he abstained from voting on the decisions
referred to within this Minute)
RESOURCES
10

Social Value Fund Proposal
The Director of Resources submitted a report, which further to the
establishment of the Leeds Social Value Charter in 2016, presented the
development of an outline proposal for a Social Value Fund, which involved
charging suppliers/tenderers an annual fee to contribute towards social and
economic value in Leeds, with the aim of the proposal being to provide a
simple mechanism to generate a significant new income stream through
which social value could be enhanced via procurement.
In presenting the report the Executive Member provided an overview of the
proposals for the scheme, gave details of the consultation undertaken to date
and noted that it was expected that the proposal could potentially generate
more than £500,000 every year.
Whilst being supportive of the principle of raising funds for the promotion of
social value, concerns were raised regarding this proposal in terms of the
focus it placed upon the private sector, the timing of the proposals and the
impact it may potentially have upon other existing fund raising schemes. In
response, the Board received further detail regarding the Council’s existing
obligation to derive social value benefit from its procurement process, and
how this scheme aimed to establish a simple and proportionate way of
achieving that from the significant number of smaller contractors the Council
had. In addition, further detail was provided on the positive response which
had been received on the proposals to date.
RESOLVED – That the Social Value Fund proposal, as detailed within the
submitted report, be approved for implementation by the Director of
Resources.
(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, Councillor A Carter
and Councillor S Golton required it to be recorded that they both respectively
voted against the decisions referred to within this Minute)
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2022

Page 98

11

Financial Performance – Outturn financial year ended 31st March 2022
The Chief Officer (Financial Services) submitted a report presenting the
Council’s final outturn position for the 2021/22 financial year in respect of both
the revenue and capital budgets and also the Housing Revenue Account. The
report also included expenditure on schools. In addition, the report also
sought approval of proposals regarding the creation of earmarked reserves
and injections into the Capital Programme.
In introducing the report, the Executive Member extended her thanks on
behalf of the Board to the Chief Officer Financial Services and her team for
the work which had been undertaken in getting the Council to its outturn
position, given the range and scale of challenges which continued to be faced,
with it being noted that the final position on the General Fund shows an
underspend of £1.5m.
In response to a Member’s specific enquiry, the Board received further detail
on the financial implications for the Council should any potential pay
settlement in the current financial year be above what had already been
budgeted for.
Responding to a Member’s comments, the Board received an update on the
current position in relation directorate budget reviews and the delivery of
directorate budget action plans. Further to this, whilst acknowledging the
financial support that the Council had received from Government during the
pandemic, it was noted that the Authority had not been allocated further
resource to deal with related backlogs, which had been the case in some
other sectors. It was also noted that dialogue continued with the Government
on such matters, however, when considering the significant financial
challenges that continued to be faced by the Council, it was emphasised that
all directorates would need to undertake financial reviews moving forward.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the Council’s outturn position for the 2021/22 financial year, as
detailed within the submitted report, be noted;
(b)

That the creation of earmarked reserves, as detailed within Appendix 1
to the submitted report, be agreed, and that the release of such
reserves be delegated to the Chief Officer Financial Services;

(c)

That it be noted that the Chief Officer Financial Services will be
responsible for the implementation of the actions (detailed
above/below) following the conclusion of the “Call In” period;

(d)

That the following injections into the Capital Programme be approved,
as detailed at Appendix 5A (iii) to the submitted report: £63,116.9k of Basic Need and High Needs Provision Capital
Allocation (HNPCA) Grants for Schools;
 £27,743.7k of external contributions for the Connecting Leeds /
Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme;
 £2,499.3k of external contributions for Leeds Playhouse; and
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2022

Page 99


(e)

12

£3,746.5k of other external contributions;

That the additional Capital Receipts Incentive Scheme (CRIS)
allocations to Wards and Community Committees for the period
October 2021 to March 2022 of £262.3k, be noted.

Treasury Management Outturn Report 2021/22
The Chief Officer (Financial Services) submitted a report which presented the
Council’s Treasury Management Outturn position for 2021/22.
Responding to a Member’s enquiries, the Board received further detail on the
actions taken within the treasury management strategy which had resulted in
an overall saving to the revenue budget, information on why borrowing levels
had reduced during the reporting period and also on the actions being taken
to mitigate risk against the potential implications for the Council should
interest rates continue to rise.
RESOLVED – That the Treasury Management outturn position for 2021/22,
as detailed within the submitted report, be noted, together with the fact that
treasury activity has remained within the Treasury Management strategy and
policy framework.
ADULT AND CHILDREN’S SOCIAL CARE AND HEALTH PARTNERSHIPS

13

OfSTED Inspection Report
The Director of Children and Families submitted a report presenting the
findings of the recent Ofsted inspection of Leeds’ Local Authority Children’s
Services which had been carried out between 21st February to 4th March
2022. A copy of the full inspection report was appended to the submitted
report for Members’ consideration.
In presenting the report, the Executive Member highlighted the Council’s
significant achievement of maintaining its ‘Outstanding’ judgement following
the recent Ofsted inspection of Leeds local authority children’s services,
particularly given the unprecedented challenges which had been faced as a
result of the pandemic. The Executive Member then provided the Board with a
detailed overview of the inspection’s outcomes and it was underlined that the
Council would not become complacent in light of this judgement, with
emphasis being placed on the fact that outstanding did not mean perfection. It
was also noted that senior leadership would develop an improvement plan
based upon the inspection’s findings and work with the Children and Families
Scrutiny Board on the implementation of that plan was intended. In
conclusion, the Executive Member paid tribute to and thanked the Director of
Children and Families, together with his team of staff for their continued
dedication to the children of Leeds, with it being highlighted that this
‘Outstanding’ outcome was a testimony to their efforts. Members of the Board
and the Chief Executive echoed the Executive Member’s thanks to the officers
across the Children and Families directorate.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2022

Page 100

In considering the report, Members welcomed the Executive Member’s
comments about not becoming complacent and highlighted the importance of
remaining vigilant in the protection of children, and also looked forward to
further innovation and improvement in appropriate service areas to build upon
that which had already been achieved.
Members highlighted that whilst the priority would always be the wellbeing of
children in Leeds, there were benefits for the service in the sharing of best
practice with other Authorities, where appropriate.
Responding to a specific enquiry, the Board received an update on the next
steps in relation to a review into the notification of serious child safeguarding
incidents following previous consideration of this matter by the Children and
Families Scrutiny Board, with it being noted that a report was intended to be
submitted from the Leeds Safeguarding Children Partnership Review Advisory
Group to the Scrutiny Bord in due course.
In response to a further enquiry, the Board received information on the range
of actions being taken to address the impact upon Leeds arising from the
national challenge currently faced in relation to social worker shortages which
resulted in higher case loads. This was in addition to the information which
had been provided on such matters by the Executive Member as part of her
introductory comments.
In conclusion, the Executive Member provided an overview of the
improvements which had been made following the Ofsted visit in 2021, which
were reflected in the most recent Ofsted outcomes. It was also highlighted
how a lot of Leeds practice was being recognised nationally. Finally, the
Executive Member reiterated her thanks, on behalf of the Board, to the staff
across the Children and Families directorate.
RESOLVED –
(a)
That the contents of the submitted report, in particular OfSTED’s
recognition that Leeds has maintained a relentless focus on prioritising
services and support to children and families, be noted;
(b)

That it be noted that Leeds has maintained its ‘Outstanding’ rating and
will address the identified areas for improvement;

(c)

That the Board’s appreciation and thanks be formally recorded, for the
following:Front line staff and managers whose often challenging day to day work
has made such a difference to the lives of children and families in
Leeds;
Elected Members and senior officers of the Council who have
prioritised children despite significant challenges arising from the
Covid-19 Pandemic and 12 years of austerity and cuts to Local
Government funding;




Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2022

Page 101



(d)

The support of our partners, third sector colleagues, businesses and
communities across the city who have supported this work through
Child Friendly Leeds, which enters its tenth year in 2022;
That it be noted that the officer responsible for the implementation of
such matters is the Director of Children and Families.

ENVIRONMENT AND HOUSING
14

Approval of the updated Leeds Housing Strategy
The Director of Communities, Housing and Environment submitted a report
which presented and sought approval of a new strategy for Leeds Housing for
the period 2022 to 2027 which had been developed around six key themes.
The report noted that the proposed new strategy built upon the previous
Housing Strategy (2016 – 2021) and set out the city’s ambitions for housing
over the next five years, whilst also reflecting the evolving priorities and
changes to legislation which have occurred.
In presenting the report, the Executive Member highlighted how the proposed
strategy was built upon its predecessor, but now reflected the evolving
challenges currently being faced in this area which the strategy aimed to
focus upon via the six key themes within it.
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board received assurance and further
detail on the performance monitoring against the key themes of the strategy
that would be undertaken, with the key role of the Leeds Housing Strategy
Board in this process being emphasised.
Also, the importance of partnership working with colleagues in planning
services was highlighted and acknowledged in order to ensure the best
outcomes for residents and communities across Leeds.
Similarly, in response to a Member’s comments, the importance of delivering
appropriate levels of suitable housing in all communities across Leeds was
acknowledged, with further information on the actions being taken in this area
being provided, which again included the partnership working arrangements
which were in place, as referenced above.
RESOLVED –
(a) That the new Leeds Housing Strategy 2022-2027, as presented at
appendix 1 to the submitted report, be approved;
(b) That it be noted that the Director of Communities, Housing and
Environment and the Chief Housing Officer will be accountable for the
implementation of the new strategy and overseeing its delivery.
DATE OF PUBLICATION:

FRIDAY, 24TH JUNE 2022

LAST DATE FOR CALL IN
OF ELIGIBLE DECISIONS:

5.00 P.M., FRIDAY, 1ST JULY 2022
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 27th July, 2022

Page 102

